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Headline Statistics

Provision of an efficient 
and effective Marine Aids 

to Navigation service.

Continuous improvement 
of NLB’s Assets, 

Governance, Service 
Provision and People 

ready to meet current and 
emerging requirements.

Cooperation with 
Trinity House and Irish 

Lights to deliver Tri-GLA 
initiatives.

Support the economic 
development of Scotland 

and Isle of Man.

Strategic Focus

Maximum exploitation 
of commercial 

opportunities presented 
by NLB’s assets, 

including support to 
other Government 

Departments.
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206
Lighthouses
65 Lights over 15 nautical mile range
141 Lights less than 15 nautical mile range

Headline Statistics

174
Statutory Buoys in addition to 117 Commercial buoys 
managed by NLB

120Marine Licences processed plus
16 pre-application consulations

£1.25m Commercial Income 2019/20 
including income from cruise liner berthing and 
vessel usage at London International Shipping 
Week.

1867
Local Lighthouse Inspections
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Our Organisational Values

Safety

We will do everything reasonably practicable to 
protect those we work with and the environment 
from harm

Teamwork

We will support each other to succeed and develop 
individuals to reach their full potential. 

REespect
We will treat each other with respect and dignity.

Integrity
We will do the right thing for the right reasons.

Fairness
We will treat everybody fairly.

Innovation and Flexibility

We will look beyond the obvious and embrace change 
and the opportunities it offers. 

Pride

We will take pride in what we do as individuals and 
the achievement of the organisation as a whole.
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Captain Michael Brew
Chairman

Chairman’s Introduction

However these high level achievements and the others set out in the 
Performance Report didn’t happen by accident.  Over the last five years 
NLB gone through a transformation of the way it does business which has 
hinged around the Organisational Change Programme.  With the full support 
of the Board of Commissioners, the Executive team have gone into every 
dark corner of the organisation to seek out both the bad and the good.  The 
Audits carried out by the Government Internal Audit Agency (GIAA) track 
progress across the years as the Accounting Officer, with the endorsement 
of the Audit and Risk Committee, has sought to use this invaluable resource 
to facilitate change and improvement, forensically targeting where the need 
and risk is greatest.   Programme Management, Risk Management, GDPR 
and Cyber were all key stepping stones and during 2019/20 attention was 
directed at the Organisational Review itself which, through the award of 
a Substantial opinion, confirmed the ambitious and complex programme 
of change has delivered as promised.   None of this would be possible 
without the buy-in of staff which is both testament to the efforts of the 
Chief Executive, Directors and Senior Managers to engage closely with their 
people and the exceptional quality of the teams they lead.  

In my introduction to last year’s Annual Report I highlighted the vulnerability 
created by the inability to Recruit and Retain staff.  I am delighted to report 
that a 2 year Pay settlement covering 2019/20 and 2020/21 was approved 
by Ministers in February 2020.   The significant strategic risk to the delivery 
of operations has now been effectively mitigated and I would like to thank 
colleagues from DfT, HM Treasury and Cabinet Office for their support to 
resolve this longstanding concern.   The risk, which was formally elevated to 
DfT in February 2018, has now reverted back to NLB.

FY2019/20 closed in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic.  The immediate 
impact was the cessation of refurbishment and maintenance work, removal 
of contractors from site and with it a consequent Capital and Revenue 
underspend.  These unfinished projects will be completed as the lifting of 
restrictions allow, however the knock-on effect on projects for 2020/21 and 
beyond are still unknown.   Innovation and preparedness have allowed NLB 
to adapt readily to the ‘new normal’ that the realities of living with the virus 
have forced upon us, but the underlying uncertainties mean that the delivery 
of the 2020/21 Corporate Plan and developing the forecast for the five years 
beyond will be challenging.    Although we are entering a period of unknowns, 
the core of what NLB does remains unchanged and we must maintain and 
renew our assets to guarantee an uninterrupted and effective service in the 
longer-term.  Amongst the headlines is the project to seek the replacement 
of NLV POLE STAR in 2024 and the upcoming refurbishment of Pillar Rock 
stations, starting with Skerryvore. The Corporate Plan for 2021-2026 will 
reflect these major requirements. 

As I have illustrated, NLB is well led, structurally sound, has robust 
governance and has strong processes in place underpinned by effective risk 
Management.   My Board Colleagues and I have every confidence that the 
organisation will continue to deliver its vital service to protect lives, property 
and the environment for the safety of all. 

�y high level summary for the year 
is captured as follows:   FY2019/20 
has been hallmarked by remarkable 
successes throughout the course of the 
year with the vital role that NLB plays in 
ensuring the safety of mariners literally 
placed on the world stage during London 
International Shipping Week 2019.   
Although the global COVID-19 pandemic 
cast its shadow at the end of the period 
and will undoubtedly have significant 
implications for subsequent years, it 
did provide a remarkable illustration of 
the adaptability and professionalism of 
NLB’s workforce as the organisation met 
the unprecedented challenges without 
missing a beat.

Mike Brew 
Chair
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Mike Bullock
Chief Executive

Chief Executive's Report
conducting essential Aid to Navigation (AtoN) maintenance or working 
effectively at home.  Their collective efforts have ensured that a vital piece of 
National Infrastructure has continued uninterrupted, meeting IALA availability 
standards in full.   NLB has also played a wider role in the crisis by setting up 
the ‘Maritime Mutual Support Group’ bringing together vessel operators 
within Scottish Public Service to share resources, best practice and provide a 
route to access assets in support of the National effort. 

FY 2019/20 was a year of continued consolidation of change.   As the 
Chair has highlighted in his report, GIAA’s objective assessment provided 
at the end of 2019 was that NLB’s Organisational Review and ensuing 
Programme for Organisational Change were soundly set up and effective.   
This independent view has been backed up by across the board positive 
results within the Annual Staff Engagement Survey, particularly in areas 
identified for improvement during the Organisational Review including 
working relationships between staff and line managers, communication 
and cooperation across teams.1      The final element to be implemented 
is the revised Performance Management system which will be rolled out 
August 2020 and brings focus on individual responsibility to live up to NLB’s 
Organisational Values.  Although the formal part of the programme is all but 
complete, the effort to ensure that the significant progress made to date is 
maintained and built upon will continue.  The new structure, underpinning 
processes and empowered managers have this well covered through robust 
Risk Management, Continuous Improvement oversight provided by the 
externally accredited Quality Management System and the targeted use of 
internal audit, including GIAA and other independent providers.

The financial results for the year show underspend against budget of £2.9m. 
A significant proportion is made up of Pay and Pensions £0.9m due to budget 
allocation for a higher 2018/19 pay award than sanctioned and the ongoing 
gapping of posts. In addition the effects of severe weather in early 2020 
compounded by the cessation of Capital and Revenue work across the estate 
because of COVID-19 resulted in a £0.8m underspend and the £0.6m allocated 
for Revenue and Capital Contingency was not required.  Although the reduced 
running costs created by the Revenue underspend has contributed to an 
improved RPI-X result it must be noted these ‘savings’ are neither real nor 
sustainable. NLB’s ethos remains to seek only the resources actually required 
and to deliver what is promised but the given the inherent uncertainties 
created by the COVID-19 pandemic are going to make the Corporate Planning 
process and the development of an accurate bid for 2021-26 extremely 
challenging.  Effort is already underway with our GLA colleagues and DfT 
Officials to find a workable, realistic and affordable way forward.

In summary, NLB is in good order.   We have great people and, thanks to the 
recent pay award, the ability to recruit the right skills for the future.  We 
also have a fit for task organisational structure underpinned by tried, tested 
and robust governance and processes.   The uncertainties of the post-COVID 
world will undoubtedly bring new dimensions to many aspects of what we 
do, however as Accounting Officer and Chief Executive my message to NLB’s 
stakeholders is that we are ready for the many challenges ahead. 

The Northern Lighthouse Board’s (NLB) motto 
Safety for All took on new meaning in the final 
months of FY2019/20 as the team navigated their 
way through the uncertainties and unexpected 
challenges presented by COVID-19.  The possibility 
of a pandemic was already long-captured within 
our well established risk management system 
with various scenarios considered and associated 
mitigating actions identified.  As with any 
emergency, the unfolding reality didn’t play out 
as scripted for the anticipated influenza or foot 
and mouth disease outbreak, but the time and 
effort invested in crisis management preparation 
and the increasing resilience achieved through 
organisational change paid off.   The innovation, 
flexibility and commitment of our people has been 
nothing short of magnificent. Without missing a 
beat they have developed and adapted to new 
ways of working whether that be onboard the 
vessels, in the workshop, out on the coast 

  
1   It is important to note that the survey was conducted some 6 months before the conclusion of the long awaited pay settlement for 2019/20 and 2020/21 
therefore the results were unadulterated by the extremely welcome news that DfT, HM Treasury and Cabinet had approved the business case to address the 
operational risk presented by the inability to Recruit and Retain staff. 

Performance Report

Chief 
Executive
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Performance Report

Safety
The incidence of accidents within NLB’s workforce remains commendably 
low, however the ever present risk that exists in the operations to provide a 
comprehensive Aid to Navigation Service requires constant and active management.   
Fundamental to this is NLB’s safety culture which ensures colleagues are able 
and willing to report near-misses or hazards and, regardless of experience or 
seniority and feel empowered to challenge and question. To maintain awareness 
all staff participate in general safety briefings, toolbox talks are conducted prior to 
commencing work, staff and Commissioner representatives participate in the HS&E 
Committee and lessons identified are shared both internally and with the other GLAs. 
In addition the Chief Executive and Directors spend time with frontline staff as they 
go about their work to hear their views and to experience first-hand working conditions. Commissioners 
also lead the evaluation of Health Safety and Environment issues at individual lighthouse stations during 
Annual Inspection Voyages.  This not only directly contributes to the audit process but also enhances 
Non-Executives’ understanding of frontline issues which enhances effective governance during Board and 
Committee meetings. 

AtoN Availability
NLB met and exceeded the rigorous International standards set by IALA for 
Aid to Navigation (AtoN) availability. Cat 1 AtoN availability has continued to 
remain at its improved level over previous years despite a number of RACON 
failures associated with aging equipment which have now been resolved. 
CAT3 Aton availability remains well above IALA standards but has been 
impacted by poor reliability of a number of buoy mounted AIS units during 
the year. 

2020 AtoN Review  
The five yearly review of Aids to Navigation has been completed taking input 
directly from the user community as well exploiting traffic data.  The review 
was conducted in cooperation with the other GLAs who supported each 
other through peer review of the findings.   The document  is available on our website.

Vessel Replacement Project.
In accordance with direction given by the Maritime Minister in the 
approval letter for Corporate Plan 2019/24, work has commenced to 
develop the case to address the significant risk presented by the longer-
term sustainability of NLV POLE STAR due to obsolescence.  Robust 
governance through a Project Board has been established which includes 
non-executive Board members and the Chief Executive as the Senior 
Responsible Owner (SRO).  A highly qualified Project Management Office 
Manager has been appointed and with the support of experts from DfT, 
CMAL and mentoring from Scottish Government’s Directorate of Internal Audit and Assurance, a Strategic 
Outline Case has been developed.  Work has commenced on the Outline Business Case which is scheduled 
for submission to DfT late Summer 2020. In March 2020 GIAA conducted an audit of project governance 
and work completed to date awarding ‘Substantial’.  This provides independent assurance that the project 
is well founded and on track, subject to the necessary approvals, to deliver a replacement vessel in 2024.
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Organisational Change
GIAA completed an Audit of the Organisational Review Process and Programme for Change in November 
2019 awarding ‘Substantial’.   The auditors noted:  “..the organisational Review itself was soundly set up and 
delivered and the governance, risk management and monitoring controls underpinning the implementation of 
the Programme for Change were effective… staff buy in was significant throughout the Review and Programme 
for Change process, underpinned by a clear recognition that the review was necessary and, also, by very 
effective communication initiatives.”.  The final stage of the programme will be the implementation of a new 
Performance Management system August 2020. 

London International Shipping Week 2019
NLV PHAROS was deployed to London in support of DfT’s effort to promote 
UK as a Maritime nation during LISW 2019.  10 major events were hosted 
including Maritime UK Careers Hub, International Trade Forum, Isle of Man 
Maritime, Chamber of Shipping Safety Charter launch, Met Office Climate 
Change Seminar, Scottish Maritime Cluster and DfT Executive Group.  VIP 
visitors included the Prime Minister, Maritime Minister, Secretary of State 
for Defence, Scottish Minister for Rural Affairs and Natural Environment, 
DfT Permanent Secretary as well as dozens of senior leaders from across the global shipping industry. 
 

Recruitment and Retention Risk
The long running campaign, which started in late 2017, to mitigate the operational 
risk presented by the inability to offer competitive remuneration to NLB staff 
came to fruition during the year.  Through an iterative and thorough Business 
Case process, NLB first gained the support of DfT Officials and endorsement of 
the Shipping Minister.  Then followed forensic examination by colleagues from 
HM Treasury and Cabinet Office including face to face meetings with NLB’s Chief 
Executive and Director of Business Services supported by DfT Sponsorship and 
HR teams.  A 2 year Pay settlement covering 2019/20 and 2020/21 was approved 
by Ministers in February 2020.   The significant strategic risk to the delivery of operations has now been 
effectively mitigated.  The risk, which was formally elevated to DfT in February 2018, has now reverted back to 
NLB.

Engagement Survey
The results of the annual NLB Employee Engagement Survey showed across the board improvement over 
the previous year with the over whelming majority of employees extremely positive about working for the 
organisation.   The outcome was all the more impressive as the survey was conducted well before the Pay 
award for 2019/20 and 2020/21 was concluded and announced.    

Modernisation of Board of Commissioners
In line with best practice and supported by the findings of the Governance audit carried out by GIAA, the role 
of Chief Executive has been added to the voting membership of the Board of Commissioners. 
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Environment
During the year an Environmental Workgroup was established to bring additional focus 
and awareness to environmental issues.  This encompasses the development of existing 
initiatives to reduce NLB’s impact on climate change and also seeks workforce led 
initiatives to broaden the scope of the approach to overall sustainability.  

  

International Influence
In partnership with other GLAs and the shared GLA Research and 
Development team (GRAD) NLB has made a considerable contribution to 
the promotion of UK interests within IALA. A major IALA workshop was 
hosted at NLB’s headquarters in January 2020 to examine the future of 
DGPS with delegates from across the globe participating. NLB holds the 
Chair of  the ARM (AtoN Requirements and Management) Committee. 

Management Assurance Report Audit
In support of the overall Organisational Change initiative the Accounting Officer’s annual Management 
Assurance Report (MAR) to DfT has been used as a key tool to drive improvement across the organisation.  
To gain assurance of the effectiveness of the process GIAA conducted an audit in early 2020 and found the 
process to be Substantial noting "We found a commitment throughout our fieldwork to delivering a thorough 
MAR process that contributed materially to NLB’s own risk and improvement process." 

Joint User Consultative Group
The Tri-GLA JUCG was held outside London for the first time and was hosted by NLB at its HQ in Edinburgh May 
2019 with attendees from across  the UK.

ISO 45001:2018
NLB achieved certification to the latest ISO standard for Occupational Health and Safety Management which 
places a bigger emphasis on leadership and management commitment, risk opportunity management and 
workforce participation and consultation.  This is a significant achievement which was completed 18 months 
ahead of the deadline.  

Commercial Income
NLB seeks every opportunity to fully utilise its assets to gain commercial 
income when not required for statutory work.   For ship services the 
key selling points are the quality of service and professionalism of NLB’s 
Mariners and through this strong relationships have been forged with 
strategic customers, including the Ministry of Defence.  Berth utilisation 
at Oban Base during 2019/20 has been strong with increased usage 
by cruise and aquaculture vessels, but COVID-19 is set to dramatically 
reduce the number of visiting vessels. 
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GPC Management
A bureaucratic paper-based system to manage Government Procurement Cards has been seamlessly replaced 
by a mobile phone ‘App’ removing the requirement for submission of documents and manual processing of 
purchase receipts.  

Broadening Understanding
NLB’s Chief Executive briefed the Chair of DfT’s Group Audit and Risk Assurance Committee (GARAC) onboard 
NLV PHAROS during London International Shipping Week.  The focus was to better enable the high level 
assurance process within DfT to understand and interpret the risks and challenges faced by the GLAs. 
 

Archive
During the year a small team undertook a review of the off-site hard copy 
Archive, more than 1,100 boxes were retrieved, assessed, categorised and 
catalogued.  The work resulted in a 75% reduction of material in storage and 
an associated ongoing cost reduction of about £10K annually.   The team 
placed over 30 boxes of materials across the National Records of Scotland 
(NRS), Historic Environment Scotland, National Library of Scotland, Scottish 
Moving Image Archive and the Ballast Trust (a Scottish engineering archive) 
safeguarding the original material and ensuring availability for the future. Additionally we engaged in a Web 
Continuity Service being set up with NRS, allowing them to take archive copies of our website on a regular 
basis and make the material available to the public through the National Archives. 

Business Continuity
A reassessment of Business Continuity Planning resulted in the creation of a new First 
Responder approach to handling incidents, an easy to carry guide has been developed 
and the relevant materials have been refined and moved into a Business Continuity 
area on SharePoint improving accessibility and maintainability.  The guide was tested 
on an internal exercise before being successfully used on a joint exercise with our 
helicopter provider PDG Aviation with participation from HQ, Oban Base and PDG’s 
Operations Centre in Inverness.

COVID Maritime Mutual Support Group
As part of a wider response at the start of the pandemic, NLB instigated the setting up of a ‘Maritime Mutual 
Support Group’.  This brought together vessel operators within Scottish Public Service consisting of CALMAC, 
CMAL, NorthLink, Marine Scotland and Councils from Orkney, Shetland, Highland and Argyll & Bute as well 
as other interested organisations, including RNLI, MCA, Transport Scotland and the Scottish Government’s 
Resilience Room (SGoRR).  The objective was to share resources, best practice and provide a route to access 
assets and the group has been heralded as a very positive initiative in support of the National effort.



Community

STEM
Inspiring and engaging young people in our work is very important to us especially 
in raising awareness of STEM subjects (science, technology, engineering and 
mathematics) and the opportunities that are possible for young people. During 
FY2019/2020, NLB Technicians and Engineers have been championing STEM 
through engagement with nursery, primary and high school pupils, Brownie and 
Scout groups, visits to lighthouses and tours of our vessels and our Oban base. 
During London International Shipping Week, children from schools across London 
attended a Maritime UK careers event onboard NLV PHAROS and were given tours 
of the vessel by our ship’s crew.

Outreach
We continue to give talks on NLB’s work to interested groups ranging from Heritage 
Associations, Rotary Clubs, Justices of the Peace, Probus Clubs, right through to 
staff from Transport Scotland. 

Doors Open Day
Staff volunteers opened NLB’s Headquarters to visitors as part of the Edinburgh 
Doors Open Day where access is given to buildings not normally open to the public. 
During the weekend we had over 1,000 visitors. 

Oban Winter Festival
We took part in the Oban Winter Festival in November which is large community 
event taking place over 10 days in and around Oban. NLV POLE STAR’s crew 
gave guided tours of the vessel and we hosted live music and stalls in our buoy 
store. Over 600 people visited our Oban base during the weekend. We also had 
a presence across town as staff volunteers spent time leading up to the festival 
placing NLB buoys and lights in shop windows and in the town centre. 

Scurdie Ness Lighthouse
With the cooperation and support of our neighbours at Scurdie Ness Lighthouse 
and the Retained Lighthouse Keeper, we were able to offer the public tours of the 
Lighthouse during Angus Coastal Festival. Over the course of the day, 110 people 
climbed to the top of the tower. 

Scapa100
NLV PHAROS and NLV POLE STAR took part in events to commemorate the 
scuttling of the German High Seas Fleet in Scapa Flow Orkney. As well as being 
part of the flotilla, both vessels were open to the public when visitors had a 
chance to meet the crew, have a tour of the ships and find out more about our 
work. We were honoured that NLV PHAROS and NLV POLE STAR participated in 
the commemorations to mark this historic and poignant event and delighted to be 
given the opportunity to reaffirm the already strong relationship between NLB and 
the people of Orkney.

Exhibition and Reception at Scottish Parliament
We exhibited outside the Chamber at the Scottish Parliament for a week in June. 
It was an opportunity to engage with MSPs and Parliamentary staff and to raise 
awareness about our vital safety service and the contribution we make to the 
economy. 
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Message from the Skies
During the month of January, the front of our building became an art installation 
for a literary and video project. The project was a co-commission by Edinburgh’s 
Hogmanay and Edinburgh International Book Festival and was part of Scotland’s 
Year of Coasts and Waters campaign. 

Public Access
NLB supports local communities by working in partnership to facilitate public 
access to lighthouse towers. Lighthouses are literally a beacon for tourism 
and are a major draw for visitors from Mull of Galloway to Sumburgh Head 
in Shetland. Eight NLB lighthouses are open to the public bringing direct and 
indirect benefit to the local economy. 

Charity Activity
NLB staff have participated in a number of fund raising events including a raffle 
in aid of CLIC Sargent and a coffee morning for MacMillan Cancer Support. 
We were also delighted to host a gig at 84 George Street by The Walnuts (TV 
presenter, Matt Allwright’s band) as part of their Lighthouse Tour to raise money 
for Alzheimer Scotland.

We are also supporting ‘Light the North’ Lighthouse Trail which will raise money 
for Clan Cancer Support, a cancer charity based in Aberdeen. Sculptures of 
lighthouses will be installed in Aberdeenshire, Moray, Orkney and Shetland to 
form an interactive trail. The sculptures will then be auctioned off to raise money 
for the charity. We have supported the educational aspect of the initiative with 
resources and will promote the trail once it is up and running. Unfortunately, the 
trail had to be postponed due to COVID-19. 

HMS ROYAL OAK
NLV PHAROS supported commemorations in Scapa Flow on 14 October 2019 to 
mark the 80th anniversary of the vessel’s loss.



Merchant Shipping Act 1995 (Commissioners of 
Northern Lighthouses) contained within the Scotland 
Act 2016 are summarised as follows:

• Scottish Ministers to appoint a commissioner to 
the NLB Board.

• Commissioners shall send to the Scottish Ministers 
a copy of any accounts that they have been 
required to provide under section 218 of the 
Merchant Shipping Act 1995.

• Scottish Ministers shall lay those accounts before 
the Scottish Parliament.

• Commissioners shall send to Scottish Ministers 
any report made under section 198(4)(b) (reports 
on inspections) of the Merchant Shipping Act 
1995.

• Scottish Ministers shall lay any such report before 
the Scottish Parliament.

Section 195 of the Merchant Shipping Act 1995, 
and Section 634 of the Merchant Shipping Act 1894 
in respect of the Republic of Ireland, state that: 
Responsibility for the provision, superintendence and 
management of lighthouses, buoys and beacons on 
the coasts and seas around the British Isles is vested in 
the three GLAs:

• Trinity House in its capacity as a lighthouse service 
(TH)

• Commissioners of Northern Lighthouses (known 
as Northern Lighthouse Board) (NLB)

• Commissioners of Irish Lights (known as Irish 
Lights) (IL)

Auditors
Comptroller and Auditor 
General
National Audit Office
157-197 Buckingham Pal-
ace Road
Victoria
London
SW1W 9SP

Bankers
Royal Bank of Scotland PLC
36 St Andrew Square
Edinburgh
EH2 2YB

Aims, Objectives and Regulation

The Commissioners of Northern Lighthouses have 
pleasure in presenting their Report and Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2020. These Accounts 
are prepared by the Commissioners in respect of 
their function as the General Lighthouse Authority 
for Scotland and adjacent seas and islands and 
the Isle of Man in accordance with the directive 
issued by the Department for Transport, signed 
on 25 September 2019, under the powers of the 
Secretary of State contained in Section 218 of the 
Merchant Shipping Act 1995 and are subsequently 
consolidated to form part of the General Lighthouse 
Fund Accounts which are prepared pursuant to 
Section 211(5) of the Merchant Shipping Act 1995.

The GLAs are financed by advances made by the 
DfT from The General Lighthouse Fund (GLF) 
whose principal income is from light dues levied on 
shipping using ports in the United Kingdom and the 
Republic of Ireland. The Fund receives additional 
income from the Republic of Ireland Exchequer and 
from sundry receipts generated by the GLAs from 
buoy, ship and property rental, workshop services, 
berthing services and the sale of assets.

All three GLAs contained their running cost 
expenditure within levels sanctioned by Ministers 
in 2019/20. The level of light dues in the United 
Kingdom is determined by the Secretary of State 
for Transport under Section 205 of the Merchant 
Shipping Act 1995. The Irish Government sets the 
level of light dues in the Republic of Ireland, under 
the Merchant Shipping (Light Dues) Act 1983.

The Marine Navigation Act passed into law in April 
2013. The Act introduced new powers and duties 
to improve the ability of harbour and lighthouse 
authorities to discharge their responsibilities for safety 
management in UK waters. This includes measures 
to confirm the powers of the GLAs to work outside 
the 12 nautical mile territorial limit and to mark 
wrecks electronically, and to improve their ability to 
tender for commercial work where this can allow the 
utilisation of surplus capacity.

The Scotland Act 2016, an act of the Parliament of 
the United Kingdom, sets out amendments to the 
Scotland Act 1998 and devolves further powers to 
Scotland. The amendments to Schedule 8 to the 

Office
84 George Street
Edinburgh
EH2 3DA

Solicitors
Anderson Strathern LLP
1 Rutland Court
Edinburgh
EH3 8EY

Office and Advisors
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The GLAs’ future vision of Marine Aids to Navigation is 
contained in the document ‘2030 Navigating
the Future’ available at https://www.nlb.org.uk/
wp-content/uploads/2030-Navigating-the-Future.
pdf states that the GLAs’ Marine Aids to Navigation 
Strategy to 2030 is to

These accounts have been prepared in accordance 
with 2019/20 Government Financial Reporting Manual 
(FReM) issued by HM Treasury. The accounting policies 

contained in the FReM follow International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) to  the extent that it is 
meaningful and appropriate to the public sector. 
Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting 
policy, the accounting policy which has been 
judged to be the most appropriate to the particular 
circumstances of the GLF for the purpose of giving 
a true and fair view has been selected. The GLF’s 
accounting policies have been applied consistently in 
dealing with items considered material in relation to 
the accounts.

The Fund’s accounts consolidate the General 
Lighthouse Authorities’ (GLAs) accounts; the accounts 
maintained by the Department for Transport (DfT) 
and the light dues collection accounts maintained by 
Trinity House.
 
The accounts of the GLAs have been prepared in 
accordance with the accounts direction issued by the 
Secretary of State for Transport 25 September 2019.

The GLAs have adopted codes of best practice for 
Commissioners and Board Members, which are based 
on the Model Code of Best Practice for Public Bodies 
issued by HM Treasury. The Code is
underpinned by the Seven Principles of Public Life set 
out by the Committee of Standards in Public Life.

Performance and Progress

The income to the GLF comes mostly from light dues, 
which are charged on commercial shipping calling at 
United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland ports. The 
Secretary of State for Transport has a duty to ensure 
the effective management of the GLF and enable the 
adequate provision of AtoNs at the minimum cost.

The Government remains committed to the present 
system of recovering the GLAs’ costs through light 

• continue to provide an appropriate mix 
of AtoN for general navigation for all 
mariners; 

• continue to provide a timely and effective 
response to wrecks, new dangers and AtoN 
failures; 

• continue to undertake superintendence 
and management of all Aids to Navigation 
in accordance with international standards, 
recommendations and guidelines; 

• work with users, partners and stakeholders 
nationally and internationally, to 
continuously improve the safety of 
marine navigation through harmonised 
international standards, recommendations 
and guidelines; 

• improve reliability, efficiency and cost-
effectiveness while ensuring the safety of 
navigation; 

• introduce new services and infrastructure 
in line with user requirements and 
technological developments, including 
lights, radio navigation, e-Navigation and 
the maritime cloud; 

• keep abreast of technological 
developments and undertake research and 
development on new AtoN technologies; 

• protect and exploit our intellectual 
property where appropriate.
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Overall, NLB running costs have fallen by 27.1% in the 
last five years (generating £16.3m savings) as a result 
of these and other actions taken to drive down costs 
and improve the effectiveness of our services for the 
shipping industry. Thanks to these reduced costs, light 
dues have been reduced from 40p in 2014/15 to 37.5p 
in 2017/18 and continue to remain at this level to 
deliver savings to the shipping industry.  

In recent years progress towards modernisation 
and decarbonisation of the GLAs has been rapid. All 
lighthouses were automated by 1998 with controls 
centralised at each GLA headquarters and an out of 
hours monitoring service established at Trinity House, 
Harwich.

Floating AtoNs and almost all off grid lights have been 
solarised. A Differential Global Positioning System to 
enhance the US Global Positioning System has been 
provided since 1998 permitting the GLAs to close 
the expensive Decca Navigation System in 2000. The 
future of this system is in turn under review with 
planned developments in space based augmentation 
and Receiver  Autonomous Integrity Monitoring 
(RAIM). The GLAs have focused on reducing costs  
and improving energy efficiency through major 
investments in depots, ships and AtoN technologies.

Given the increasing complexity of navigating around 
the British Isles and other areas of the world, along 
with the continued growth of sea born trade the risk 
of collisions and groundings will undoubtedly increase. 
The IMO’s response is the adoption of e-Navigation. 

E-Navigation is intended to bring a fundamental 
change to the concept of operations used for 
maritime navigation. Its development has been slow 
and only some aspects are being progressed.

The concept is that all charting, communications 
and navigation information will be integrated into a 
coherent presentation on the bridge. There would be 
a common data-link ship-to-ship and ship-to-shore 
giving a clear and up-to-the-minute presentation of 
vessel traffic disposition. The benefits of e-Navigation 
in the high-risk areas off the coasts of the UK and 
Ireland are clear and this is why the GLAs continue to 
assist in its development in particular the terrestrial 
and potentially spaced based VHF Data Exchange 

System (VDES)

GNSS is currently the undoubted primary navigation 
system supported by traditional visual and radar 
navigation.  Due to the vulnerabilities of the signal, 
along with growing mariner and societal reliance, the 
IMO accept the need for a backup to GNSS. There 
is no agreement at this stage on what that back up 
should be in the e-Navigation environment. Until 
a backup is defined there is a clear single point of 
failure.

This is why the GLAs research an independent, 
dissimilar terrestrial Position, Navigation and Timing 
(PNT) backup. The GLAs participated in a pan- 
European Loran network on a trial basis however 
during 2015 decisions by France and Norway to cease 
transmissions led to the network being degraded 
and made unsuitable for positioning. The GLAs 
are now researching in international collaboration 
opportunities to utilise (R) Ranging mode from signals 
of opportunity, enhanced Radar Beacons (eRacon) 
as well as the integrity of multi constellation satellite 
systems as alternatives.
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Fraud, bribery and whistleblowing

NLB takes a ‘zero tolerance’ approach in the event 
of any fraud or bribery. Any instances are managed 
through the appropriate policies and reported to the 
Audit and Risk Committee.

All staff in the Procurement and Finance Departments 
are required to carry out on-line fraud awareness 
training in conjunction with all delegated authority 
budget holders.. 

During the financial year to 31 March 2020, NLB 
experienced no occurrences of payment/invoice 
redirection fraud (18/19 - 1 unsuccessful occurrence). 
NLB was not subject to any false or misrepresented 
claims from employees during the year (18/19 – 1 
occurrence).

NLB’s records show that there was only one occasion 
of GPC fraud which was blocked by the card provider 
(18/19 4 users – 6 transactions).

Procedures for the reporting of fraudulent 
transactions on government procurement cards are in 
place with the bank reimbursing NLB of any spend not 
authorised by NLB.

Whistleblowing has remained a priority throughout 
2019/20, and activity has continued to ensure a 
culture of confidence and safe environment to raise 
a concern is preserved. In addition to the formal 
whistleblowing procedure staff are encouraged to 
raise concerns at various forums.

Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going 
concern basis, as NLB is satisfied that its activities are 
sustainable for the foreseeable future. The Statement 
of Financial Position at 31 March 2020 shows net 
assets of £94,142,000. Advances for 2020/21, taking 
into account the amounts required to meet NLB’s 
liabilities falling due in that year, have already been 
included in the GLF forecasts for that year and DfT 
have officially sanctioned the 2020/21 budget in a 
letter dated 3 February 2020.
 

Most of the GLA work to assist to develop 
e-Navigation is carried out by the GLA Research and 
Development (GRAD) department which is shared 
resource of all three GLAs, based at the Trinity House 
base in Harwich.

IMO Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS) Convention GLA 
Responsibilities:

• ...provide such Aids to Navigation as the 
volume of traffic justifies and the degree of 
risk requires

• ... take into account the international 
recommendations and guidance

• ... arrange for information realting to Aids 
to Navigation to be made available to all 
concerned

Financial Performance



The net operating results for the year, set out in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure/(Income)  
(Page 59) shows a surplus of £2.31m for 2019/20 
(2018/19: deficit £1.67m). The majority of the reported 
surplus relates to activity not undertaken or completed 
within the financial year due to the emergence of 
the worldwide COVID-19 pandemic, alongside delays 
in capital and revenue work not completed due to 
weather, ship and helicopter availability. Advances from 
the General Lighthouse Fund is in excess of expenditure 
due to the level of funds requested which subsequently 
were not utilised. 
Other expenditure has reduced by £0.58m which in 
part relates to the adoption of IFRS16 in the 2019/20 
financial results. IFRS16 has increased depreciation by 
£0.54m as leases are now capitalised, with the opposite 
decrease taken to other expenditure.

Capital spend for the year was £0.67m under budget, 
of which capital works will be carried forward into 
2020/21. 

None of the available (£0.60m) revenue or capital 
contingencies afforded to NLB were utilised in the year 
(2018/19 £0.08m utilised).

Commercial income generation in the year was £1.25m 
(2018/19 £0.85m), owing to an increase in berthing 
and vessel hire. Income generated from the use of 
the vessel during international shipping week also 
contributed to a higher delivered income level in the 
year. 

Income from vessel hire and berthing is not forecast 
to continue at such a level for the 2020/21 financial 
year due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Physical/social 
distancing alongside closure of the hospitality and 
tourism sectors will reduce the demand for commercial 
vessels to utilise Oban pier from levels seen in prior 
years and the hire of NLB vessels will be at a lower level.  

Provisions for dilapidations of DGPS sites scheduled to 
close in 2024/25 have been provided for at a value of 
£0.78m) 

Including Other Comprehensive Income, the Statement 
of Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure/
(Income) reports a net surplus for the year of £4.30m 
(2018/19 : deficit £3.44m).  This takes account of 
unrealised gains and losses on Property, Plant and 
Equipment of £3.05m in year.  An annual revaluation of 
property is undertaken by the Valuation Office Agency 

(VOA) to accurately give a true and fair representation 
of the asset value held by the Northern Lighthouse 
Board.  

The Net Cashflow from all activities shows an outflow 
of £(0.11)m (2018/19 : Surplus £0.06m). Funds are only 
drawn down based on the profile of cash required for 
the following period, thus liquidity is handled within the 
GLF and not within the accounts of NLB.

NLB has continued to focus on efficiencies to provide 
cost reduction to deliver the agreement, with the 
Secretary of State for Transport, that running costs 
should be reduced over a 5 year period by a figure (“X”) 
less than the Retail Price Index (RPI). 
The agreed target for the 5 year period 2016/17-
2020/21 has been set with an ‘X’ factor of 1.73%. The 
Baseline for this period is the Sanctioned Budget for 
2015/16 and commercial income and pension costs are 
now included within the running cost definition. 
Based on the results achieved to 31 March 2020 
(providing other factors remain unchanged over the 
remaining years of the 2016-21 efficiency period) NLB 
could achieve an X of -2.37% this is significantly above 
the real cost reduction target of -1.73%. The savings 
delivered in 2019/20 are neither real nor sustainable 
and is mostly driven by underspend on pay and 
pensions due to the pay remit sanction being less than 
budget, teamed with an underspend occurring due to 
poor weather and emergent COVID-19 pandemic.

The Accounting Policies are reviewed each year in 
accordance with IAS8, Accounting Policies. This review 
is carried out at the tri-GLA Accounts Format Working 
Group with reference to the Financial Reporting Manual 
(FReM) and The Accounts Directive issued by the 
Secretary of State for Transport.  

For 2019/20 NLB’s performance against the Cash Limits 
set by the Department for Transport is summarised as 
follows:
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Sanction                    
£000’s

Actual 
Expenditure  

£000’s

Variance                         
£000’s

Running costs (including pensions) 19,299 17,650 (1,649)
Redundancy costs 300 173 (127)
Expenditure on behalf of all GLAs 7 4 (3)
Other costs 2,486 2,227 (259)
Capital expenditure 4,257 3,587 (670)
Total 26,349 23,641 (2,708)

Expenditure on Tangible and Intangible non-current assets

The actual expenditure calculated against these Cash limits is reconciled with the Accounts, prepared on an 
“accruals” basis, as follows:

Expenditure on property, plant and equipment

 

2019/20
£000’s

2018/19
£000’s

Buildings 463 1,578
Tenders 1,199 776
Buoys 6 29
Information Technology 102 60

Plant & Machinery 420 614
Payments on Account & Assets under Construction 1,396 598

3,587 3,655

Major capital works due to be completed in 2019/20 unfortunately came to an abrupt halt due to the emerging 
COVID-19 pandemic. Works scheduled to complete in February & March 2020 were disrupted by the pandemic 
and the deliverability of material due to the closure of suppliers and restrictions on importation. As restrictions 
continue to ease around the world and more specifically in Scotland, it is forecast that the postponed projects 
will recommence 2020/21.  As a result the work completed to date on capital projects is held in assets under 
construction pending finalisation of the works.

In addition however, NLV Pharos underwent an extensive dry dock and repair during the year to maintain its 
operational capability.  Capital expenditure on new vehicles and plant saw NLB procure its first electric forklift 
truck for Oban Base and electric van. There were no major capital projects in the Isle of Man in 2019/20 (2018/19 
nil).

Financial Performance



2019/20                       
£000’s

2018/19                       
£000’s

Cash withdrawn from the General Lighthouse Fund 23,930 20,773

Running Costs in current and 
constant prices

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Running Costs £000* 13,794 13,542 13,951 14,108 14,236 14,591 15,810 15,024 14,994 15,750

Variance % (1.83)% 3.02% 1.13% 0.91% 2.49% 8.35% (4.97)% (0.20)% 5.04%

Running Costs at Constant 
Prices £000

13,794 12,315 12,303 12,096 11,968 12,139 12,875 11,794 11,421 11,695

Variance % (10.72)% (0.10)% (1.69)% (1.06)% 1.43% 6.06% (8.39)% (3.16)% 2.39%

Average RPI 226.5 237.3 244.7 251.7 256.7 259.4 265.0 274.9 283.3 290.6

Annual Change % 4.80% 3.10% 2.90% 2.00% 1.10% 2.20% 3.70% 3.10% 2.60%

10,000

11,000

12,000

13,000

14,000

15,000

16,000

17,000

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

£0
00

's

Year

Running Costs on a Cash and Constant Basis

Running Costs £000* Running Costs at Constant Prices £000

• Under the current RPI-X regime, pensions are included in running costs.  However it is not possible to provide 
comparable data going back to 2008/09. Therefore pensions are excluded from running costs above. When 
2014/15 is the first year in the table above, running costs will be restated.

Running Costs on a Cash and Constant Basis
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Cash Controls

NLB relies primarily on advances from the General Lighthouse Fund for its cash requirements and is therefore not 
exposed to significant liquidity risks although it is dependent on the liquidity of the General Lighthouse Fund.



AtoN availability compared to International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse 
Authorities minima

ATON TYPE 2015/2016 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

ACT DIFF ACT DIFF ACT DIFF ACT DIFF ACT DIFF

Category 1 IALA Minimum 99.8%

BUOYS 99.87% 0.07% 99.88% 0.08% 99.89% 0.09% 99.98% 0.18% 99.95% 0.15%
LIGHTS 99.85% 0.05% 99.85% 0.05% 99.87% 0.07% 99.91% 0.11% 99.92% 0.12%
RACONS 99.90% 0.10% 99.91% 0.11% 99.91% 0.11% 99.93% 0.13% 99.83% 0.03%
TOTAL 99.88% 0.08% 99.87% 0.07% 99.88% 0.08% 99.91% 0.11% 99.91% 0.11%

Category 2 IALA Minimum 99.0%

BUOYS 99.86% 0.86% 99.89% 0.89% 99.87% 0.87% 99.96% 0.96% 99.97% 0.97%
LIGHTS 99.84% 0.84% 99.85% 0.85% 99.93% 0.93% 99.95% 0.95% 99.92% 0.92%
TOTAL 99.87% 0.87% 99.88% 0.88% 99.90% 0.90% 99.95% 0.95% 99.95% 0.95%

Category 3 IALA Minimum 97.0%

AIS 99.71% 2.71% 99.14% 2.14% 98.41% 1.41% 97.58% 0.58% 99.23% 2.23%
BUOYS 99.99% 2.99% 99.99% 2.99% 99.99% 2.99% 99.99% 2.99% 99.99% 2.99%

BEACONS 99.98% 2.98% 99.98% 2.98% 100% 3.00% 100% 3.00% 100% 3.00%

TOTAL 99.85% 2.85% 99.57% 2.57% 99.74% 2.74% 99.69% 2.69% 99.86% 2.86%

99.70%

99.75%

99.80%

99.85%

99.90%

99.95%

100.00%

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 IALA
MINIMUM

Category 1

BUOYS LIGHTS RACONS

98.40%
98.60%
98.80%
99.00%
99.20%
99.40%
99.60%
99.80%

100.00%
100.20%

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 IALA
MINIMUM

Category 2

BUOYS LIGHTS

95.50%
96.00%
96.50%
97.00%
97.50%
98.00%
98.50%
99.00%
99.50%

100.00%
100.50%

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 IALA
MINIMUM

Category 3

AIS BUOYS BEACONS

98.80%

99.00%

99.20%

99.40%

99.60%

99.80%

100.00%

100.20%

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Total

Category 1 Category 2 Category 3
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Sustainability Reporting

NLB is exempt from mandatory sustainability reporting however the organisation is fully committed to 
minimising the impact of their operations on the environment and on this basis, has positioned their response 
to recognising and addressing the Climate Emergency at the forefront of their strategic approach. 

Work is underway to revise NLB's Mission, Vision and Strategic Focus in order to directly respond to the 
Climate Emergency and form the strategic basis of the their journey towards making NLB a Carbon Net Zero 
entity this will be reflected in Corporate Plan 2021-2026.. From a wider environmental standpoint, NLB’s core 
mission to deliver reliable Aids to Navigation is, in and of itself, fundamentally geared towards reducing the 
environmental impacts, especially pollution related risks associated with accidents at sea.

NLB continue to enhance their range of environmental policies and 
procedures in line with best practice and key environmental aspects 
and impacts have been integrated within departmental risk review 
and reporting mechanisms. Our commitment to drive to continuous 
improvement within all aspects of environmental performance is 
underlined by the organisation’s commitment to ISO 14001: 2015. 
This internationally recognised standard provides for the (UKAS 
accredited) external scrutiny of management systems and drives 
continuous improvement in the way we conduct and execute our 
operations. 

Environment, within the context of NLB’s approach to stainable 
development therefore represents a key consideration within all 
aspects of NLB’s decision making and associated service delivery.  

The following are tangible examples of this approach which have been both delivered and / or enhanced 
during the 2019/20 performance year:

• We have established environmental best practice as a key spending objective within our vessel 
replacement programme, ensuring enhanced capability and adaptability to meet current and emerging 
environmental targets in relation to the mitigation of and adaptation to climate change.

• We continue to lead in the use of renewable energy for Aids to Navigation through the installation of solar-
electric power systems which have replaced diesel generators and aceteleyne, not only removing a source 
of carbon emissions and pollutants, but also the requirement to deliver fuel by ship and helicopter.

• Following our 2017 Organisational Review and associated Programme for Change, NLB have implemented 
an asset led approach to the provision of lighthouse refurbishment works. This removes the carbon 
intensive approach to cyclical maintenance of NLB assets and enables the more efficient and targeted use 
of resources.

• As part of our asset led approach, we continue to expand the range of efficient LED light sources to replace 
traditional incandescent lamps across our Aids to Navigation estate.

• We have introduced the implementation of virtual AtoNs where appropriate and practicable to do so.
• We continue to modernise our Headquarters at 84 George Street incorporating the installation of efficient 

heating systems and improved thermal performance.
• We ensure the effective application of biosecurity protocols, to prevent damage to natural habitats.
• We contribute to science, research and the protection of the sensitive marine environments through 

support to the work of Scottish Association for Marine Science (SAMS), Marine Alliance for Science and 
Technology for Scotland (MASTS) and Marine Scotland.
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In addition to our financial and environmental performance, we have also taken steps to continuously improve 
our corporate social responsibility, including:

• NLB’s Ongoing Strategic Focus – To support the economic development of Scotland and the Isle of Man.
• Delivering key project work in partnership with remote island and coastal communities
• Supporting the wider appreciation of Scotland’s Built Heritage via our support to the work of the Heritage 

Trust and Lighthouse museum. 
• Ensuring the ongoing implementation and enhancement of ethical procurement practices
• Ensuring the ongoing commitment to gender pay equality
• Maintaining our ongoing commitment to STEM And Schools Outreach work
• Maintaining our Healthy Working Lives Silver Award

This approach has enabled NLB to begin to better balance our triple bottom line and consider the sustainability 
of the organisation as a whole, within all of our routine operations, in addition to new projects and initiatives.

Mike Bullock
Chief Executive
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The NLB is working with their Interested Parties to better understand their needs and expectations.  These are 
built into our Strategic and Operational Planning.  A list of acronyms can be found at Annex B.

Accountability Report

 Mike Bullock Mairi Rae Phil Day
 Chief Executive Director of Business Services Director of Operations

The Executive
2019/2020

NLB INTERESTED 
PARTIES

Department 
for Transport

Transport 
Scotland

NLB 
Employees

Other GLAs 
(Trinity House 

and Irish 
Lights)

Fishing, Leisure, 
Government 
(e.g. MOD, 

Border Force, 
Marine 

Scotland) and 
RNLI vessels, 

their Crews and 
Owners

Isle of Man 
Government 

Ship Agents, 
Freight 

Forwarders 
and Service 
Providers

Ports and 
Harbours

Aquaculture 
Industry

Commercial 
Offshore 

Operators 
and 

Developers

Commercial 
Customers 
including 

Government 
Departments

IALA Local Communities, neighbours 
of NLB operational AtoN including 

non-regulatory aspects of Local 
Authority work

Scotland's 
Young Citiens 
and Potential 

Trainees

Other 
Agencies 

(regulatory) 
i.e. Scottish 

Environment 
Protection 

Agency

Other Agencies (regulatory) i.e. Health and 
Safety Executive, OfCom, Marine Accident 

Investigation Branch, Scottish Natural 
Heritage, Maritime and Coastguard Agency, 

Historic Environment Scotland, Local 
Authorities, Information Commissioners Office

Key Suppliers Northern 
Lighthouse 

Heritage 
Trust

Other (non-
regulatory 

functions) agencies 
e.g. Met Office, 
UKHO, SSPCA & 

RSPB)

Internal UK 
Government 

Audit 
Partners 
(National 

Audit Office & 
Government 

Internal Audit 
Agency)

External 
Audit 

Partners (ISO 
and ISM)

NLB 
Insurance 
Brokers, 

Insurers and 
Underwriters

Heritage Partners (Museum of 
Scottish Lighthouses, National 

Library of Scotland and 
National Records Scotland)

Commercial 
Ships Crews 

and their 
Owners

NLB Former 
Employees

United Kingdom, 
Scottish and Isle of 
Man Governments
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Membership of the Board

The Commissioners were established as a corporate 
body in 1786. Their incorporation is set out in Section 
193 of and Schedule 8 to the Merchant Shipping Act 
1995 as amended by the Scotland Act (2016) Part 5 
and, is as follows:-

(a)  The Lord Advocate and the Solicitor-General for 
Scotland;

(b)  The Lords Provosts of Edinburgh, Glasgow and 
Aberdeen and the Conveners of Highland and of 
Argyll & Bute Councils;

(c)   The Sheriffs Principal of all the Sheriffdoms in 
Scotland;

(d)   a person nominated by the Lieutenant Governor 
of the Isle of Man and appointed by the 
Secretary of State;

(e)  a person appointed by the Secretary of State 
(in addition to the person nominated under 
paragraph (d);

(f)  a person appointed by the Scottish Ministers.

In addition, the Commissioners may elect;

(g)   not more than three other persons;

(h)   the convener of any council whose area includes 
any part of the coast of Scotland.

The ex-officio appointments are for duration of the 
occupancy of the qualifying office. Persons appointed 
under (d) (e) (f) and (g) hold office for three years but 
may be re-appointed for further terms.

In line with best practice and supported by the 
findings of the Governance audit carried out by 
GIAA, during 2019/20 the role of Chief Executive was 
added to the voting membership of the Board of 
Commissioners.

Personal data related incidents

There were no personal data-related incidents 
reportable to the Information Commissioner’s Office 

in 2019/20. There have been seven Data Protection 
incidents recorded. All incidents have been fully 
investigated and have been classified as minor. In all 
cases the matters were fully reported to NLB’s Audit 
and Risk Committee with all associated corrective and 
preventative actions implemented. NLB continue to 
actively manage the risks to all of our information via 
an enhanced competency framework stemming from 
our GDPR compliance processes. This ensures a risk 
aware approach to information security in order that 
any and all potential weaknesses are identified and 
improvements made at the earliest juncture.

Finance Leasing Arrangements

There is exposure on the finance leases for 
NLB vessels due to a change in the main rate of 
Corporation Tax. During the setting up of the finance 
lease for NLV POLE STAR, the Board evaluated the 
option of eliminating this exposure. However, it was 
found that the financial risks were not significant. This 
option was not used for the lease for NLV PHAROS.

Payment of creditors’ policy

NLB seeks to adopt the conventions within the NAO 
'Paying Government Suppliers on time 2015' which are 
reflected within NLB's internal practices.  

Payment of all creditors, accounts are arranged by the 
date stipulated within the contract or other agreed 
terms of credit.  Exceptions to this are as follows:

1.  Payment within a shorter timescale where a 
discount may be available;

2.  Where there is a genuine dispute in respect 
of the invoice concerned. In all such cases the 
supplier is immediately informed of the details 
of the query and that the payment will be 
withheld pending resolution.

Suppliers are informed of our policy via a 
supplementary notice within contracts and are 
asked to provide any comments on this issue to the 
Procurement Manager.

The average credit taken from creditors during the 
year was 13 days (2018/19: 13 days).

Directors' Report
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Directors' Report

General

As the General Lighthouse Authority for Scotland 
and the Isle of Man NLB has responsibility, subject 
to certain provisions, for the superintendence and 
management of “all lighthouses, buoys and beacons” 
throughout Scotland and the Isle of Man including 
“the adjacent seas and islands” within and beyond 
territorial waters. In all, NLB provides 400 physical 
aids complemented by a mix of radio navigation 
aids for the safety of all mariners engaged in general 
navigation irrespective of who pays for the service, 
the size or type of the vessel, equipment fit, the 
competence of crew or flag.

Performance against Key Performance Indicators

The three GLAs continue to evaluate their 
performance against the agreed schedule of inter-GLA 
KPI’s which was established in 2012/13 and revised 
periodically to reflect new requirements.

To aid the governance and better communicate NLB's 
performance following the recent Organisational 
Review, a Corporate Performance Dashboard 
was established, bringing together KPI's from all 
departmental areas in an easily digestible format 
which is promulgated extensively throughout the 
organisation. This approach drives continuous 
improvement, provides for an enhanced appreciation 
of performance by all staff and better facilitates non-
executive oversight.

Governance

Organisation structure

The Commissioners form the non-executive members 
of the Board of Commissioners that oversees 
the Northern Lighthouse Board.  The Board of 
Commissioners meet on two occasions each year 
and has a formal schedule of matters reserved to 
it for decision. There is a Managing Board and five 
Committees that also meet frequently and regularly 
and deal with specific aspects of the management of 
the Northern Lighthouse Board.

The Board of Commissioners has delegated authority 
to the Managing Board and Committees and each has 

defined terms of reference, subject to annual review. 
In the year all terms of reference have been reviewed 
and where necessary amended.

The Commissioners are all independent, i.e. they 
have no personal financial interest, other than as 
Commissioners, in the affairs of NLB, any potential 
conflicts are declared, and they have no day-to- 
day involvement in the running of the Northern 
Lighthouse Board other than as members of the 
Managing Board and associated Committees.

Only co-opted Commissioners including those 
nominated by Isle of Man and appointed by DfT and 
Scottish Ministers, receive remuneration for their 
services.

The arrangements are set out in the Framework 
Document for the General Lighthouse Authorities.

The Board of Commissioners has vested responsibility 
for the overall management of activities in a Managing 
Board. It is made up of the Chairman, Vice Chairman, 
six other Commissioners, the Chief Executive and 
the two Directors. The Managing Board meets on six 
occasions each year.

The Board of Commissioners, Managing Board 
and Committees receive papers for meetings one 
week prior to all meetings. To ensure that the 
Commissioners are properly briefed and a number of 
supporting executive arrangements have been put in 
place, for example:

• attendance at Board of Commissioners’ meetings 
by the Directors;

• attendance at Board of Commissioners and 
Committee meetings by managers who can 
provide specialist and professional advice to 
Commissioners.

• Commissioners’ participation in annual ‘Inspection 
Voyages’ to give first-hand knowledge and 
experience of the AtoN estate and the operational 
challenges faced by NLB’s Executive team with a 
focus on seeing assets first hand where decisions 
on future investment is required.



Programme for Change

Following Secretary of State approval of the 2016/17 Corporate Plan a thorough 'root and branch' review of 
NLB’s organisational structure was initiated. Consultancy services were procured and the review commenced 
with the clear aim of improving effectiveness and preparing the organisation to meet future challenges. A 
series of recommendations were put forward and a preferred option (NLB’s Programme for Change) was 
approved by the Managing Board in early 2017.

The Programme for Change incorporated reducing the organisation from three Directorates to two, bringing 
together Marine Operations and Engineering into one team and created an integrated asset led approach 
to the management of NLB’s estate, in order to optimise operational management and AtoN performance 
throughout the life cycle of all key infrastructure. The change also brought together support functions into an 
integrated Business Services Directorate.

The new structure was in place by early 2018 and over the intervening period has been progressively reaching 
full operational capability as posts were filled, new processes embedded and staff made the cultural shift 
required.  In order to have independent assurance of the success of the initiative, with the agreement 
of the Audit and Risk Committee, the Accounting Officer invited GIAA to complete an Audit of both the 
Organisational Review Process and Programme for Change.  This was completed in November 2019 with a 
‘Substantial’ opinion.   The auditors noted:  “..the organisational Review itself was soundly set up and delivered 
and the governance, risk management and monitoring controls underpinning the implementation of the 
Programme for Change were effective… staff buy in was significant throughout the Review and Programme 
for Change process, underpinned by a clear recognition that the review was necessary and, also, by very 
effective communication initiatives.”.  The final stage of the programme will be the implementation of a new 
Performance Management system August 2020. 
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The Board of Commissioners as at 31 March 2020
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The Board of Commissioners as at 31 March 2020

 Captain Alastair Beveridge          The Rt Hon James Wolffe QC Alison Di Rollo QC
 Vice Chair

  Captain Michael Brew Sheriff Principal Mhairi Stephen QC Sheriff Principal Derek Pyle Sheriff Principal Ian R Abercrombie QC
  Chair

 Councillor Barney Crockett Councillor Philip Braat Councillor Frank Ross Councillor Len Scoullar
  

  Graham Crerar Elaine Wilkinson Rob Woodward Hugh Shaw OBE
  

  Sheriff Principal Marysia Lewis Sheriff Principal Duncan Murray WS Sheriff Principal Craig Turnbull Councillor Bill Lobban



Northern Lighthouse Board

The role of the Board 
of Commissioners

• accountability for public funds • ensuring that high standards 
of corporate governance are 
observed at all times

• operating intra vires • ensuring that, in reaching 
decisions, the Board of 
Commissioners has taken 
into account any guidance 
issued by the Department

• strategic planning and control • ensuring awareness of the 
work of NLB

• annual Report and Accounts

• confidentiality

• acting as a responsible employer

Chairman *

• non-executive leader of the NLB, and 
with the Chief Executive, is responsible 
for ensuring that the Board gives the 
NLB strategic direction and secures 
efficient and effective discharge of its 
statutory duties

• Leadership of the Board of 
Commissioners and NLB

• Developing and maintaining 
effective relationships with 
key third parties

• Ensuring the effective 
representation, in person 
where appropriate, of NLB 
to the wider communities of 
users and the public

• Working with the Executive 
and senior staff

Commissioners • provide skills and external experience to support the Chairman, Accounting 
Officer and Executive Team.

*These roles are set out in the NLB Guide to Governance
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Chair Remit Highlights

Managing
 Board

Mike Brew Operational and strategic management 
of the organisation

Oversight of 
Organisational Review 
and approval of 
recommendations for 
implementation

Health, Safety
 &

 Environment*

Mike Bullock
(Commissioner Rep 
Alastair Beveridge) 

The health & safety of NLB Staff, 
Contractors and others who are involved 
in any activities undertaken by NLB.  The 
protection of the Environment.

Support line management 
in complying with its 
responsibilities

Navigation

Alastair Beveridge To formulate policies for the provision of 
Aids to Navigation

Review the plans and 
financial projections 
for any changes to the 
NLB’s network of Aids to 
Navigation

Audit & Risk

Elaine Wilkinson Review of the effectiveness of the 
internal control systems including 
corporate governance

Scrutiny of the Annual 
Report and Accounts.

Remuneration

Mike Brew Determine remuneration for the Chief 
Executive and Directors. Propose the 
remuneration
for Co-opted Commissioners.  Support 
Executive in determining remuneration 
of staff

Assessment of Chief 
Executive and Directors 
performance

Nomination
 Committee

Derek Pyle To recommend individuals to be 
appointed as Commissioners under 
Paragraph 2 (2) of Schedule 8 to 
the Merchant Shipping Act 1995, 
and to recommend Commissioners 
for appointment to the Board’s 
Commissioners

Oversight of recruitment 
process of DfT and 
Scottish Ministers  
Coopted Commissioner

Board of Commissioners

At its meetings, the Board of Commissioners receives reports from the various committees and considers 
matters specifically reserved to the Board. During the year, the Board has approved the Corporate Plan; 
corporate strategic focus and organisational values; the Annual Report and Accounts; an amendment to the 
Board of Commissioners Terms of Reference to include the Chief Executive as a full voting member; and have 
been involved in the work of the tri- GLA Joint Strategic Board.

The Board of Commissioners has also established six other committees to deal with specific topics:

* The HS&E Committee is under the Chairmanship of the Chief Executive with the Vice-Chairman as a permanent member to provide 
the direct link between staff and the Board of Commissioners on HS&E matters.
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Highlights

Management of Risk Review of NLB 
Policies

Approval of 
various project 
briefs and 
mandates

Financial 
Performance 
and forecast 
review

Review of 
performance 
indicators 
of Aids to 
Navigation

Quality, Health, 
Safety and 
Environment 
matters

Provide forum for staff 
to raise HS&E concerns 
or proposals for 
improvements

Support 
initiatives 
developed by 
line management 

Review of 
incidents 
and lessons 
identified

Provide 
the HS&E 
Manager 
direct access 
to Non-
Executive 
representative

Oversight 
of initiatives 
including 
Evacuation of 
casualties from 
towers

Orchestrated and 
participated in Scottish 
User Consultative Group 
meeting.

Reviewed 
emerging AtoN 
requirements 

Reviewed 
availability 
of AtoNs 
against IALA 
standards.  
Monitor and 
approve the 
capital works 
programme

Technical 
discussions 
including 
Position 
Navigation & 
Time (PNT) 
resilience

Briefed on 
GLA Research 
and Radio 
Navigation 
department 
activity.

Review of NLB Risks inc 
Tri-GLA Brexit risks

Review of 
internal audit 
reports and 
findings including 
the Head of 
Internal Audit’s 
annual report 
and opinion

Review of 
management’s 
response and 

Review of 
Accounting 
Officer’s 
Management 
Assurance 
Return (MAR)

Oversight of 
transition 
to 2015 ISO 
Standards 
for Quality 
Management 
& Environment

Review of recruitment 
and retention pay award 
business case for 2019 
and 2020 and received 
updates.  Approval 
received from Cabinet 
Office and H M Treasury 
February 2020.  

Review of 
Gender Pay 
Gap Report and 
action plan

Determining 
representation at Joint 
Strategic Board

Appointment 
of Committee 
members of 
Audit & Risk, 
Navigation and 
Managing Board.
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Name BoC Managing 
Board

Audit & 
Risk Remuneration Nomination Navigation HSE

Chairman since 1 April 2019 - nominated by Lieutenant-Governor of Isle of Man and appointed by Secretary of 
State - receives a Remuneration

Captain Michael Brew
Commissioner since 1 June 2013 and co-opted until 31 May 2022

Master Mariner.  Director of 
Harbours and Harbour Master 
with Isle of Man Habours (1982-
2013).  Merchant Navy Officer 
(1969-1982)

2 (of2) 6 (of 6) 2 (of 2) 2 (of 2) 4 (of 4)

Vice-Chairman since 1 April 2019 - elected by the Commissioners - receives a Remuneration

Captain Alastair Beveridge
Commissioner since 1 March 2013 and co-opted until 31 March 2023
Master Mariner, latterly Head 
of Surveillance operations for 
Marine Scotland after service 
with Scottish Fishery Protection 
Agency/Marine Scotland as 
Commanding Officer, the 
European Commission- Director 
General (Fisheries) and a short 
spell with NLB as ships officer in 
the early 1980's.

2 (of 2) 5 (of 6) 3 (of 4) 2 (of 2) 1 (of 1) 4 (of 4) 3 (of 4)

Law Officers

The Rt Hon James Wolffe QC
Lord Advocate for Scotland.  Commissioner since 1 June 2016
Became a advocate in 1992 
and was First Standing Junior 
Counsel to the Scottish 
Ministers 2002-2007.  Called to 
the Bar of England and Wales 
in 2013.  Elected Dean of the 
Faculty of Advocates in 2014.

0 (of 2) n/a n/a n/a 1 (of 2) n/a n/a

Alison Di Rollo QC
Solicitor General for Scotland.  Commissioner since 1 June 2016
Joined the Crown Office and 
Procurator Fiscal Service in 
1985 as a fiscal. Worked in 
the Policy Group at the Crown 
Office prior to being appointed 
Deputy Head of the High 
Court Unit and later Head of 
Operational Policy. In May 
2008, seconded from COPFS 
to take up an appointment 
as a trial advocate depute. 
Appointed as deputy head of 
the National Sexual Crimes 
Unit in 2011 and became head 
of the unit in January 2013.

2 (of 2) 4 (of 6) n/a 0 (of 2) n/a n/a n/a
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Name BoC Managing 
Board

Audit & 
Risk Remuneration Nomination Navigation HSE

Sheriff Principals of the Sheriffdoms in Scotland

Sheriff Principal Ian R Abercrombie QC
Sheriff Principal of South Strathclyde, Dumfries and Galloway,  Commissioner since 1 February 2015
Admitted to the Faculty of Ad-
vocates in 1981. Curator of the 
Faculty Library (1981-1983), 
on the Institute of Chartered 
Ac- countants of Scotland’s 
Disciplinary Committee (1996-
2009) and a member of a Scot-
tish Law Commission Advisory 
Group (2000-2003). Appointed 
Queen’s Counsel in 1993 and 
sheriff in 2009. Currently a 
judicial member of the Scottish 
Civil Justice Council.

2 (of 2) n/a 2 (of 4) n/a 1 (of 2) n/a n/a

Sheriff Principal Marysia Lewis
Sheriff Principal of Tayside, Central and Fife.  Commissioner since 1 May 2015
Admitted as a solicitor in 1981; 
practised in civil litigation as 
a partner with Ledingham 
Chalmers LLP, Solicitors, 
latterly as head of litigation; 
2003-08 served as a member 
of the Board of Governors of 
The Robert Gordon University, 
and as vice chairwoman in 
2007/08; appointed as an 
all Scotland floating sheriff 
based at Peterhead in 2008, as 
resident sheriff at Aberdeen 
in 2010 and was a commercial 
sheriff from 2012-15

1 (of 2) n/a n/a n/a 0 (of 2) n/a n/a

Sheriff Principal Duncan Murray WS
Sheriff Principal of North Strathclyde.  Commissioner since 1 October 2014
Admitted as a solicitor 1982. 
Partner in Robson Mclean 
1985-2002 and Morton Fraser 
2002- 2014. President of 
the Law Society of Scotland 
2004/2005. Appointed Part- 
time Sheriff 2006. Solicitor 
member of the Scottish Civil 
Justice Council 2013-2014.

2 (of 2) n/a n/a n/a n/a 4 (of 4) n/a

Sheriff Principal Derek Pyle
Sheriff Principal of Grampian, Highland and Islands.  Commissioner since 1 June 2012

Solicitor from 1976. Solicitor 
Advocate from 1994. Latterly 
senior partner and head of 
litigation in Henderson Boyd 
Jackson WS, Edinburgh. 
Sheriff from 2000 to 2012 
in Tayside, Central and Fife 
and Grampian, Highland and 
Islands.

2 (of 2) n/a n/a 0 (of 1) 2 (of 2) n/a n/a
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Name BoC Managing 
Board

Audit & 
Risk Remuneration Nomination Navigation HSE

Sheriff Principal Craig Turnbull
Sheriff Principal of Glasgow and Strathkelvin.,  Commissioner since 1 September 2016
Admitted as a solicitor in 
1988, working for A.C.White 
in Ayr and Levy & McRae 
in Glasgow before joining 
MacRoberts  in 1993. Became 
a partner there in 1997, 
specialising in commercial 
and construction disputes 
and health and safety and 
environmental prosecutions, 
and served as the managing 
partner from 2011 to 2014. 
Appointed as a part- time 
sheriff in 2011 and became a 
full-time sheriff in 2014.

0 (of 2) n/a 1 (of 4) n/a n/a n/a n/a

Sheriff Principal Mhairi Stephen QC
Sheriff Principal of Lothian and Borders.  Commissioner since 7 May 2011
Admitted as a solicitor in 
1978 and practised in civil 
litigation as a partner with 
Allan MacDougal Solicitors; 
appointed as an all Scotland 
floating sheriff based at 
Edinburgh in 1997; resident 
sheriff at Edinburgh in 2000; 
Insolvency Sheriff from 2000-
07; Personal Injury Sheriff, 
appointed by the Sheriff 
Principal to oversee the new 
Personal Injury Procedure in 
the Sheriff Court at Edinburgh 
2007-11; member of the Board 
of the Scottish Civil Courts 
Review which reported in 
September 2009.

0 (of 2) 3(of 6) n/a 0 (of 2) n/a n/a n/a

Elected by the Commissioners - receives a Remuneration

Hugh Shaw OBE
Commissioner since  August 2018 and co-optd until 31 July 2021
Secretary of State’s 
Representative (SOSREP) 2008-
2018.  Served in the Merchant 
Navy as a Deck Officer before 
moving into HM Coastguard, 
now part of the Maritime and 
Coastguard Agency were he 
spent 28 years.  Iin that time 
has specialised in a number 
of fields including search and 
rescue and counter pollution 
and salvage. 

2 (of 2) 6 (of 6) n/a n/a n/a 4 (of 4) 1 (of 1)

Graham Crerar
Commissioner since 1 April 2012 and co-opted until 31 March 2020
Chairman Crerar Hotel Group.  
Non Executive Director, NHS 
Highland  2014-2018.  Deputy 
Chair NHS Suffolk (2007-2011).  
Fund Manager with Henderson 
Group (2000-2005), Morley 
Fund Management (1994-
2000), GAM (1992-1994), Ivory 
& Sime (1984-1992).

1 (of2) 5 (of 6) n/a n/a 1 (of 2) n/a n/a
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Name BoC Managing 
Board

Audit & 
Risk Remuneration Nomination Navigation HSE

Elected by the Commissioners - appointed by the Department for Transport - receives a Remuneration 

Rob Woodward
Commissioner since 1 September 2017 and co-opted until 30 August 2020
Formerly CEO of STV plc, 
now Chair of the Met Office, 
Chair of Court, Glasgow 
Caledonian University, Chair 
of Ebiquity plc and technology 
company Blancco plc, Chair 
of Developing the Young 
Workforce, led by Scottish 
Government, which aims to 
reduce youth unemployment 
and Chair of production 
company, Two Rivers Media.

2 (of 2) 6 (of 6) 4 (of 4) n/a n/a n/a n/a

Elected by the Commissioners - appointed by the Scottish Government - receive a Remuneration

Elaine Wilkinson
Commissioner since  1 October 2017 and co-opted until 30 September 2023
Management accountant who 
worked in the public sector for 
15 years after gaining several 
years’ experience in the 
private and voluntary sectors. 
Now resident in Scotland, 
she has held a number of 
senior policy, operational and 
corporate services positions 
in the Northern Ireland Civil 
Service.  Currently a Board 
Member of the Scottish Police 
Authority  and formerly a 
Non-Executive Director of NHS 
Highland.

2 (of 2) 6 (of 6) 4 (of 4) n/a n/a n/a n/a

Councillor Len Scoullar
Provost of Argyll & Bute Council.  Commissioner since 1 November 2013

Independent Councillor since 
1999. Retired Businessman 
(after 33 years).  Former Chair 
of Rothesay Winter Garden 
Trust and former Vice Chair of 
Bute Community Council.

0 (of2) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Councillor Bill Lobban.  
Convenor of Highland Council.  Commissioner since 18 May 2017
Independent Councillor.  
Chair of the Badenoch and 
Strathspey Area Committee, 
member of the Corporate 
Resources Committee, 
member of the Pensions 
Committee, member of 
South Planning Applications 
Committee and Chair of the 
Re-Design Board.   Member 
of Cairngorms National 
Park Authority Board and 
Advisor to Board of Grantown 
Museum.  Species Champion 
for Lepus Timidus (Mountain 
Hare).

2 (of2) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
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Name BoC Managing 
Board

Audit & 
Risk Remuneration Nomination Navigation HSE

Councillor Frank Ross
The Rt Hon Lord Provost of Edinburgh.  Commissioner since 18 May 2017
Elected to the City of Edinburgh 
Council representing the 
Corstorphine/Murrayfield 
ward in 2012.  Appointed 
Lord Provost in 2017, he 
is Edinburgh’s civic head, 
promoting Edinburgh at home 
and abroad. The Lord Provost 
is also Lord-Lieutenant, and 
greets members of the Royal 
Family and visiting heads of 
state.  A qualified accountant 
by profession, he is a fellow 
of the Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants.

0 (of2) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Councillor Eva Bolander
The Rt Hon Lord Provost of Glasgow.  Commissioner since 18 May 2017 until October 2019
SNP Councillor since 2015.  
Member of the Anderston/City/
Yorkhill Partnership, Member 
of the Emergency Committee, 
Patron Cancer Support 
Scotland, Vice President 
Shipwrecked Fishermen and 
Mariners Royal Benevolent 
Society, Patron Group West 
Scotland, Patron SSAFA Forces 
Help, President Prince & 
Princess of Wales Hospice, Vice 
President Lowland Reserve 
Forces, Patron Glasgow 
cathedral Choral Society.

0 (of 1) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Councillor Philip Braat
The Rt Hon Lord Provost of Glasgow.  Commissioner since 23 January 2020
Served as Depute Lord Provost 
from 2017 and is a graduate 
of law from the University 
of Glasgow specialising in 
Commercial Property Law.
Has held a series of senior 
positions since election to 
Glasgow City Council in 2007, 
including: City Treasurer 
and Convener of Strathclyde 
Pension Fund and Convener of 
the former Strathclyde Police 
Authority. Also an Honorary 
Officer in the Royal Naval 
Reserve.

0 (of 1) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Councillor Barney Crockett
Lord Provost of Aberdeen.  Commissioner since 17 May 2017
Aberdeen Labour Councillor. 
Member of Aberdeen Airport 
Consultative Committee, 
Member Aberdeen City 
Heritage Trust, Member of 
Gordon Highlanders Museum 
Board, Member North 
East Agricultural Advisory 
Committee. 

0 (of 2) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
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Lights Finance Committee

The Lights Finance Committee includes 
representatives of the shipping industry, convened via 
the Chamber of Shipping, the GLAs and DfT officials. 
The Committee meets annually and considers the 
GLF’s funding requirements and the implications 
for Light Dues rates. The Committee’s deliberations 
inform official recommendations to the Minister 
with regard to the setting of Light Dues rates for the 
coming year.

Joint Strategic Board

The Joint Strategic Board (JSB) was established in 2010 
and consists of representatives from all three General 
Lighthouse Authorities. JSB continues to deliver its 
main purpose of fostering tri-GLA cooperation and 
coordination and to realise the resulting efficiencies. 
The JSB maintains a strategic “Road Map” to track and 
manage significant issues and initiatives which affect 
all three GLAs.

DfT Group Audit and Risk Assurance Committee

The Annual Report and Accounts of the GLF are 
reviewed by the DfT Group Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee (GARAC), taking into account reports 
from the Audit and Risk Assurance Department 
of DfT and the National Audit Office and makes a 
recommendation to the DfT Accounting Officer.
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 Risk Management Overview

NLB’s Corporate Risk Framework, continues to form the foundation of our approach to driving continuous 
improvement throughout the organisation, thus optimising service delivery and ensuring the achievement of 
both strategic objectives, in addition to the delivering best value to stakeholders.

The risk management framework is now fully embedded across the organisation, with ongoing review and 
improvement in line with Business Management System requirements. The system provides for a three tier 
risk management framework, with Departmental \ Project Risk Registers dynamically linked to NLB’s Strategic 
Risk Register, the system also links with the Tri GLA risk register and provides for escalation to the Department 
for Transport Risk, as appropriate. Accordingly, effective risk identification, escalation, treatment and control 
continue to be assured via the effective application of the framework with routine reporting to NLB’s Audit and 
Risk Committee.

This system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to completely 
eliminate all risks to the delivery of policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is built around an ongoing process 
designed to identify and prioritise risks to the achievement of organisational aims and objectives, to evaluate 
the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to treat them effectively 
in order to prevent the negative impacts associated with their realisation.

In line with the requirements of the GLA Framework Document the GLAs are required to, “jointly carry out a 
comprehensive risk management review, which includes the key risks faced by the GLAs and a review of all 
associated requirements at least every three years.” This is addressed via the work of Inter GLA Committee 
(IGC) 6 - Legal and Risk, who manage the Triennial Risk Management Review process on behalf of the GLAs. 
The process is further underpinned by the provision of Annual Internal Risk Management and Insurance 
Scrutiny reviews, all of which are reported to the respective Audit and Risk Committees, and the Tri GLA Chief 
Executives Committee.

Risk
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The next Triennial Risk Management Review is scheduled for 2021 and in relation to this performance year, the 
2019 Annual Internal Risk Management Scrutiny report for 2019 was successfully completed, with reporting to 
NLB’s Audit and Risk Committee.  This found that the GLAs continue to maintain robust corporate governance, 
and effective internal risk management control throughout all levels of their organisations. In addition, there 
has been no significant change in the overall risk profile of the GLAs since 2018, necessitating a further 
comprehensive review in advance of the next triennial review. The study did note the ongoing uncertainty 
surrounding the outcome of Brexit negotiations and the importance of the existing Tri GLA Brexit Risk register 
the in the monitoring and management of these potential impacts. In addition, the report found that the 
existing £5M GLF contingency reserve for uninsured losses remains and that the GLAs should considered a 
further increase in the limit of General Liability cover by £10M which was concluded as part of the 2020 Tri GLA 
Marine Insurance renewal cycle.  The graphic below sets out the hierarchy in respect of the GLAs’ risk transfer 
arrangements including the arrangement of risk and insurance interface. 

All of the actions from the previous Triennial Risk Management Review have now been closed out by IGC 6, 
other than one element which relates to the investigation of the market in relation to the establishment of 
potential cyber risk transfer arrangements. This is currently being progressed with a view to concluding the 
action by Summer 2020.
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Strategic Risk Register

NLB’s Schedule of Organisational Business Risks is currently made up of 14 Strategic Risk Cards. One additional 
hazard risk card has been added to those reported within last year’s Annual Report and Accounts relating 
to Climate Emergency. This links with NLB’s plan to revise mission, vision, strategic aims and values in order 
to better prepare the organisation to both mitigate the impact of their operations in contributing to climate 
change and also adapt NLB capability and infrastructure to better deal with the impacts of increased climate 
uncertainty. 

The review of ‘Risk Cards’ which make up the NLB’s Schedule of Significant Business Risks has remained 
consistent throughout 2019/20, in line with the programmed review schedule. The process is conducted 
monthly via the Executive Group and provides for the review of all strategic risks on (at least), a biannual 
cycle. This is also underpinned via monthly ‘Deep Dive’ reviews of all Departmental Risk Registers which has 
delivered enhanced collaboration in relation to the collegiate identification of cross cutting risks and mitigating 
actions, positioning  ‘risk based thinking’ at the heart of NLB’s Executive Group. 

All strategic risk card updates are reported to NLB’s Audit and Risk Committee with all open escalated risks 
reported to NLB’s Managing Board. Both groups have welcomed the increased transparency and organisational 
insight brought about by these process enhancements.

NLB’s Organisational Risks are divided into the following four main categories as detailed within Table 1 below 
(Strategic, Financial, Operational and Hazard). Table 1 also provides an overview of the current strategic risk 
score, trend and control effectiveness, based on the 2019/20 review cycle.

Table 1: Status of all Organisational Business Risks – Annual Risk Management Scrutiny 2019

Category Risk Summary Description Score Score 
Trend

Control Comments

Strategic Policy Risks Risk of change in UK or Scottish 
Government policy or application of 
that policy regarding responsibility 
for operation of Lighthouse Service. 
Increasing trend due to anticipated 
post Brexit policy impacts.

176
 Good

Treatment 
Effective

Strategic Legislation Risks Risk of deliberate or unintended 
non- compliance with legislation. 
Increasing risk trend also takes 
account of the anticipated new 
post Brexit legislative landscape in 
addition to the enhanced compliance 
requirements associated with GDPR.

144
 Good

Treatment 
Effective

Financial Corporate 
Governance 
and Financial 
Management 
Risks

Risk of inadequate corporate and 
financial governance arrangements 
and failure to follow agreed process, 
procedure and best practice.

80
 Good

Treatment 
Effective

Financial Resourcing Risks Risk of reduction in resources 
sanctioned by UK Government for 
running NLB through pressure from 
ship owners and/or change in public 
spending policy/or matters arising 
from the change in status of NLB.

120
 Good

Treatment 
Effective
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Category Risk Summary Description Score Score 
Trend

Control 
Effectiveness¹

Comments

Operational AtoN Provision 
Risk

Risk of navigational errors resulting 
from non-provision of AtoN, incorrect 
characteristics or incorrectly positioned 
AtoN. Failure to rectify an AtoN casualty 
within an appropriate timeframe.

90
 Good

Treatment 
Effective

Operational Information and 
Operational 
Technology Risks

Risk of major IT System failure, 
unavailability or loss of data. Virus 
infection/ hacking/spyware attacks 
through security failure or cyber-attack. 
Ongoing high level of focus in relation to 
cyber risk transfer arrangements.

63
 Review

Ongoing 
Focus Area

Operational Human Resources 
Risks

Risk of lack of suitably skilled, 
experienced and qualified human 
resources to deliver against both 
statutory and contractual obligations. 

121
 Good

Ongoing 
Focus Area

Operational Exploitation of 
Reserve Capacity 
Risks

Risk of non-compliance with contractual 
obligations. Failure to comply with 
legislation or Framework Document 
for commercial work. Unreliable or 
inappropriate vessel and /or natural 
event disruption to service delivery.

40
 Good

Treatment 
Effective

Operational Technological 
Change & 
Obsolescence 
Risks

Failure to identify and harness 
changes in technology/ maintain older 
technologies as replacement parts 
cease to be available. Failure of Critical 
Supplier Chain. Increasing trend noted 
here taking account of the identified 
need for vessel replacement and 
associated obsolescence issues.

90
 Good

Treatment 
Effective

Hazard Asset Loss / 
Damage Risk

Risk of loss of major asset or facility e.g. 
tender, Depot, Lighthouse or contract 
helicopter on both a temporarily or 
permanently basis.

70
 Good

Treatment 
Effective

Hazard Health and Safety 
Risk

Risk of failure to secure the health and 
safety of employees and third parties, 
including passengers.

150
 Good

Treatment 
Effective

Hazard Natural Events 
Risk

Risk of widespread disruption e.g. 
weather, geological disruption / 
landslide etc. pandemic restrictions/ 
denial of access to stations disrupting 
fault repair, maintenance and storing 
leading to loss of AtoN provision.

40
 Good

Treatment 
Effective

Hazard Environmental 
Impact Risk

Risk of damage to the environment 
resulting from pollution to air, water 
or land including biosecurity and 
biodiversity risks.

81
 Good

Treatment 
Effective

Hazard Climate 
Emergency Risk

 Risk of inability to mitigate 
unsustainable contribution by NLB to 
CO2e emissions and associated global 
temperature rise in line with legislative 
requirements. Inability of NLB to 
effectively adapt to the impacts of 
global temperature rise and associated 
extreme weather impacts.  

304
 Review

Ongoing 
Focus Area
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Tri GLA Brexit Risk Register

Through the Joint Strategic Board, the three GLAs continue to co-operate to capture and where possible 
mitigate the effects of the perceived risks associated with the UK decision to exit the EU. A Tri-GLA risk register 
remains live and in play and is jointly and independently reviewed by the GLAs, with reporting ongoing via 
NLB’s Audit and Risk Committee, Managing Board, in addition to the Joint Strategic Board. The main risk areas 
constitute 3 policy risks, 5 resourcing risks and 1 legislative risk as follows:

Business Management System – Risk Based Approach

NLB continue to effectively establish their Business Management System as a central pillar
of the organisation aimed at driving forward continuous improvement and risk based thinking. This approach is 
set within the context of the organisation’s commitment to their externally certificated management systems 
incorporating; 

• BS EN ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management 
• BS EN ISO 14001: 2015 Environmental Management 
• BS EN ISO 45001: 2018- Occupational Health and Safety management System
• BS EN ISO/IEC 27001: 2013 - Information Security Management System

Importantly this approach and associated organisational commitment has been central to NLB’s migration 
during September 2019 to the first International Occupational Health and Safety Management Standard ISO 
45001. NLB is now certificated to the most up to date suite of international standards, which are based on a 
universal High Level Structure (HLS). This has enabled the organisation to more fully integrate management 
systems and work towards the achievement of enhanced operational efficiency, effectiveness and 
management control. 
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Figure 1: Overview of the PDCA (Deming Cycle) which underpins 
NLB’s management systems approach to risk based thinking and 
continuous improvement.

NLB is the first GLA to achieve certification to the ISO 
45001 Standard which forms a critical component of 
our key strategic mission, “in salute omnium” (for the 
safety of all). Our last ISO External Audit highlighted 
the effectiveness of the ongoing Senior Management 
commitment to NLB’s Management System, noting 
an “excellent level of engagement and involvement 
by Chief Executive and Directors.” In addition to, “the 
strong leadership approach being employed by NLB and 
continued focus on Health & Safety Culture openness, 
empowerment and risk awareness.” 

Maintaining a strategic focus that is fully informed 
by the needs and expectations of interested parties 
continues to be key to informing NLB’s risk management 
approach. This ensures that risks to the successful 
achievement of strategic objectives, informed by the 
critical success factors of key stakeholders are effectively 
identified and appropriately treated in order to ensure 
the ongoing achievement of the best possible service 
delivery outcomes. Additional engagement also remains 
ongoing via a range of fora including; the Scottish User 
Consultative Group (SUCG), the Joint User Consultative 
Group (JUCG), direct consultation with shipping industry 
representatives including the Lights Advisory Committee 
in addition to relevant UK, Isle of Man and Scottish 
Government Departments.

Scope of Responsibilities 

NLB's Chief Executive has overall responsibility for 
maintaining a robust and effective system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the Northern 
Lighthouse Board’s policies, aims and objectives whilst 
safeguarding public funds and the asset infrastructure 
for which the NLB are responsible. The Chief Executive's 
responsibilities are further set out within the NLB Guide 
to Governance.

The Accounting Officer for the General Lighthouse 
Fund has delegated Accounting Officer responsibility 
to the Chief Executive. The Accounting Officer for the 
General Lighthouse Fund will therefore rely on the 
Chief Executives Management Assurance Statement 
on internal control, when preparing the Governance 
Statement for the General Lighthouse Fund. The Chief 
Executive also holds accounting responsibilities on 
behalf of the Board of Commissioners as they discharge 
their responsibilities under the Merchant Shipping 
Act 1995. In this regard, NLB’s 2019/20 Management 
Assurance Return (MAR) was submitted in line with DfT 
requirements, reflecting a substantial position across 
all aspects of assurance requirement. The associated 
MAR was also the subject of a further GIAA audit, aimed 
at providing additional independent validation and a 
substantial opinion was achieved.

Leadership: Capacity to handle risk

The GLAs' approach to risk management is to promote a 
culture of risk awareness and responsibility within their 
respective organisations, at all levels. The GLAs will; 
evaluate, control, monitor and review all risks which may 
adversely affect the delivery of their statutory duties 
and corporate objectives as GLAs, or threaten them with 
prosecution, loss of reputation, legal liability or negative 
financial impact. Where appropriate, additional controls 
may be put in place to further reduce those identified 
risks.

The GLA’s policy is to transfer, where possible, risks 
which are assessed as medium to large through 
insurance (where it is economically appropriate to 
do so), having regard to the amount of indemnity 
offered and previous losses. Risks are tolerated (with 
appropriate internal controls) where the cost of transfer 
is disproportionate to the benefit gained, or they cannot 
be transferred, such as in the case of fines and punitive 
damages.
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Risks are treated through the application of internal 
controls (where possible) to contain them to acceptable 
levels in line with the GLAs’ Risk Appetite. Internal 
control mechanisms include the adoption of sound 
codes of corporate governance, ongoing awareness of 
public affairs, accreditation to internationally recognised 
quality / management standards, staff training, robust 
process controls and effective business continuity 
and emergency response planning arrangements. 
Occasionally, the risk response may be to terminate an 
activity where appropriate to do so.

Description of responsibilities

The Board of Commissioners maintains corporate 
oversight and approves the strategic direction for 
the Northern Lighthouse Board. The Managing Board 
receives reports relating to operational service delivery, 
including all live escalated risks, and reviews progress 
on the achievement of aims and objectives, ensuring 
continued operational efficiency. The Audit & Risk 
Committee monitors the effectiveness of internal control 
and reports on its work to the Board of Commissioners. 
The Government Internal Audit Agency (GIAA) Group 
Chief Internal Auditor, agrees an Audit Plan with the 
Audit & Risk Committee and then through the delivery 
of the associated audit programme, provides to the 
Audit and Risk Committee, an independent opinion on 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal 
control within NLB, together with recommendations for 
improvement to defined Government Audit Standards.

The Executive Group (made up of Directors and Senior 
Managers), led by the Chief Executive, is responsible 
for reviewing the 14 organisational risks and associated 
controls, in order to ensure the effective treatment of 
each, in line with the NLB’s Risk Appetite. It reports its 
findings to the Audit & Risk Committee and in the case 
of the AtoN Provision Risk Card, this is also reported 
to the Navigation Committee with the Health Safety 
and Environmental Impact Risk Cards being further 
reported to NLB’s HSE Committee. The Executive Group 
also receive risk escalation reports from departmental 
Managers and agree appropriate treatment measures, 
in addition to conducting deep dive reviews of all 
departmental risk registers on a rolling programme in 
order to ensure ongoing collaboration, address any cross 
cutting issues and enable the identification of themes 
and trends. All ‘open’ escalated departmental risks 
along with treatment actions are routinely reported to 
NLB’s Managing Board to ensure ‘real time’ visibility and 
oversight.

Effective risk identification, escalation, treatment and 
control continues to be experienced via the Executive 
Group’s central risk management focus which underpins 
the Tri GLA Risk Management Policy and fully aligns with 
Treasury Guidance.

Risk Management Training

Clear accountability, including the delegated authority 
for the management of risk at all organisational levels 
has been clearly set out, within NLB’s Risk Management 
Framework. This is further embedded within the design 
of NLB’s associated process improvement system 
which identifies clear accountability and ownership 
of all improvement actions, in addition through our 
tram meeting framework, all staff are empowered 
to contribute effectively to the early identification 
mitigation of risk. 

On the basis of NLB’s strategic direction and senior 
leadership commitment to the aforementioned ISO 
Business Management Standards, risk management 
capacity and competence continue to increase 
across the organisation within the ‘business as usual’ 
environment. This is supported on an ongoing basis 
via the Risk & Improvement Team, Health and Safety 
Team and wider Internal Audit Group who continue 
to champion the concept of ‘Risk Based Thinking’ 
throughout the organisation. The associated programme 
of training and awareness raising continues to be 
delivered with the following progress noted throughout 
the 2019/20 performance year:

• NLB Risk Management Framework (RFM): Annual 
Review: June 2019

• RMF Refresher Update: Executive Group July 2019
• RMF Refresher Update: Audit and Risk Committee: 

Sept 2019
• RMF Review Update: NLB Managing Board: Sept 

2019 
• SUCG Risk Management Overview:  Nov 2019
• Executive Group: Process Improvement Overview: 

Oct 2020

• Vessel Replacement Project Board – Project Risk 
Management Implementation: Dec 2019

• Annual Staff Meeting: Risk management Refresher: 
Dec 2019.

• ISO 45001 Internal Auditor Training: Feb 2020     
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Risk identification, evaluation and control

Risk management forms an integral part of the GLAs’ 
strategic management approach. This overall strategy 
can be set out as follows:-

• To identify significant risks to the delivery of key 
organisational aims and objectives within a defined 
process so that each element or level of risk 
identification fits within an overall framework;

• To evaluate the significance of those risks using 
recognised standards and parameters;

• To assign ownership of risks at an appropriate level 
within the organisation;

• To facilitate the escalation of risks to the appropriate 
action level within the organisation and wider 
government department;

• To respond effectively to risk through the use of 
controls, risk transfer and risk financing mechanisms;

• To review and report on those risks against the 
GLAs’ unique nature and funding regime and where 
appropriate put in place additional measures to 
further mitigate the impact of any residual risk;

• To ensure that their risk management strategy is 
operating effectively and continuously improving;

• To embed risk management as an intrinsic part 
of the GLAs’ organisational processes within the 
context of their Business Management System.

Business Management System Overview

The diagram below demonstrates how NLB’s ISO 
Certificated Business Management System works in 
concert with their Risk Management Framework in 
order to drive continuous improvement and assure 
the delivery of Corporate Aims and Objectives and 
associated best value.

Risk tolerance “risk appetite”

The GLAs will normally only tolerate a risk after the 
application of controls and treatment so that the 
overall residual risk level is brought within acceptable 
parameters. The “risk appetite” of the GLAs, 
particularly in financial terms, is different to both 
private companies and government / public sector 
bodies due to their unique ring-fenced funding regime 
and the resources available to finance loss. The GLAs, 
like other organisations, have clearly described their 
“risk appetite”. This is the amount of risk that we are 
prepared to accept, tolerate, or be exposed to at any 
point in time.

The outcome of the Annual Risk Management Scrutiny 
and Review process informs the GLAs’ risk appetite, 
and is endorsed by the Joint Strategic Board and the 
Lights Advisory Committee - representing shipping, 
ports and cargo interests. The GLAs’ risk appetite 
has therefore been built into NLB’s Risk Management 
Framework and is assessed in line with HM Treasury 
guidance and its associated five point framework 
of “averse‟, “minimalist‟, “cautious‟, “open‟ and 
“hungry‟ descriptors. 

Risk appetite scores have also been established within 
NLB’s Departmental Risk Registers in order to improve 
understanding and appreciation of the concept, in 
addition to driving the identification of additional 
mitigating actions in order to align the post mitigation 
score with that of the GLA’s risk appetite.

The risk appetite of the GLAs is broadly considered to 
be “averse‟. This is more fully described as “avoidance 
of risk and uncertainty is a key organisational 
objective”. This is particularly the case for hazard 
risks such as health & safety and the environment. 
In respect of the exploitation of commercial 
opportunities it is considered to be more "cautious" 
but always within a robust framework of loss control. 
“Cautious” is more fully described as “preference 
for safe delivery options that have a low degree of 
residual risk and may only have limited potential for 
reward”.

As a minimum the GLAs seek to ensure:-

• The safety of all - as an overarching primary 
objective;
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• Compliance with all appropriate laws and 
regulations (domestic, IALA and EU);

• Efficient and cost effective operation of their 
respective organisations;

• Effective internal control and corporate 
governance.

The GLAs’ risk response seeks however to achieve 
an appropriate balance between the potential 
realisation of risk and the cost of limiting that risk. 
NLB therefore  consider each risk in terms of whether 
it should be transferred, tolerated or where it cannot 
be transferred, or the cost of transfer would be 
disproportionate to the potential benefit gained, 
treated to an acceptable level, or in exceptional cases 
discontinued.

Table 2: Overview of Risk Types with Appetite alignment and 
Target Score

NLB Risk Category NLB Risk 
Appetite

NLB Risk Target 
Score

Policy Averse Target Score 36>

Legislation Averse Target Score 36>

Resourcing 
(Statutory)

Averse Target Score 36>

AtoN Provision Averse Target Score 36>

Information 
Technology

Averse Target Score 36>

Operational 
Technology

Averse Target Score 36>

Health, Safety & 
Environment (Inc 
Natural Events)

Averse Target Score 36>

Climate Emergency Averse Target Score 36>

Asset Loss / Damage Averse Target Score 36>

Human Resources Averse - 
Minimalist

Target Score 66>

Corporate 
Governance

Averse - 
Minimalist

Target Score 66>

Technology Change / 
Obsolescence

Cautious Target Score 121>

Resourcing (Non 
Statutory / Reserve 

Capacity)

Cautious Target Score 121>

Review of effectiveness

The Chief Executive has overall responsibility for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal 

control. This is informed by a range of objective 
evidence including the opinion proffered by NLB’s 
Audit and Risk Committee, which is also informed by 
the work of both Internal and External Audit Teams in 
addition to NLB’s Executive Group with support by the 
Risk and Improvement Manager.
Specifically, GIAA provide the Chief Executive with 
their management letter and other assurance reports 
which inform the Accounting Officer's Management 
Assurance Return to the DfT.
Individual Senior Managers have responsibility for 
the development and maintenance of the internal 
management control framework, derived from 
the ongoing review and management of their 
Departmental Risk Registers. This facilitates a real 
time overview by the Chief Executive in relation to 
organisational performance via NLB’s Corporate 
Performance Dashboard, in addition to which, NLB’s 
ISO Certificated Business Management System 
which is also subject to biannual Management 
Reviews which consider the holistic performance 
of the system, in supporting the delivery of the 
organisational aims and objectives.
The Chief Executive conducts an overall review of 
Board effectiveness of the system of internal control 
by the Board of Commissioners, the Managing Board 
and the Audit & Risk Committee. This enables any 
identified weaknesses to be addressed and ensures 
that the continuous improvement of the whole system 
is in place and sustained.

The key processes in place are:
• The Board decides policy and provides the 

strategic direction for the Northern Lighthouse 
Board;

• The Managing Board reviews progress on the 
achievement of aims and objectives and to 
maintain operational efficiency;

• Periodic reports from the Chairman of the Audit 
and Risk Committee which operates in line with 
HM Treasury Audit & Risk Assurance committee 
handbook, to the Board of Commissioners 
concerning internal control;

• Regular reports by the GIAA Group Chief Internal 
Auditor, to standards defined in the Government 
Internal Audit Standards, giving independent 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the systems of internal control together with 
recommendations for improvement;

• Work in compliance with the Framework 
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Document for the General Lighthouse Authorities 
that governs the relationship between the 
Department for Transport and the General 
Lighthouse Authorities. The results of these 
reviews are reported to the Audit & Risk 
Committee;

• A separate statement within the Head of Internal 
Audit’s annual report giving his opinion on the 
effectiveness of the internal control process; this 
report, which is reviewed by the Audit and Risk 
Committee, then forms the basis for a review of 
Internal Control by the Board of Commissioners;

• Regular reviews of the 14 Business Risks at the 
Executive Group meetings;

• Third Party Certification Audits whose key findings 
are reported to the Executive Group in addition 
to the Audit and Risk Committee and Managing 
Board;

• Risk based Internal Audit by the NLB in-house 
team with sponsorship from Senior Managers, in 
line with (ISO 9001 2015). All key findings reported 
directly to the Executive Group Members 
with overview reporting to the Audit and Risk 
Committee and via NLB’s Corporate Performance 
Dashboard.

• NAO External Audit who independently audit 
NLB accounts and summarise their findings in the 
management letter;

• The provision of the Management Assurance 
Statement which is completed in accordance with 
the DfT Group requirements. The Statement is 
reviewed by the Audit & Risk Committee with all 
corrective and preventative actions identified 
and tracked via NLB’s Process Improvement 
Framework.

GIAA Group Chief Internal Auditor Opinion

In his annual report and in line with Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) the GIAA Head of 
Internal Audit provided a “Substantial” assurance 
rating for the 2019/20 performance year, this 
consistent with the “Substantial” opinion received 
last year and following the 2017/18 “Moderate” 
opinion, demonstrates the organisation's ongoing and 
sustained commitment to continuous improvement.

The head of Internal Audit said, “On the basis of the 
evidence obtained during 2019/20, I can provide 

an overall ‘Substantial’ assurance rating on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of NLB’s arrangements 
for corporate governance, risk management, and 
control processes. This is in line with last year’s rating: 
our 19/20 audits providing further evidence of the 
successful embedding of the NLB transformation 
process driven both by strong leadership and staff 
commitment to the continuing transformation 
process. This was evidenced in particular by findings 
in the audit of Organisational Review. Four other 
audits were conducted over 2019/20 covering Vehicle 
Management, Key Financial Controls, Management 
Assurance Reporting and Vessel Replacement 
Project. Although the audits highlighted areas where 
improvements can be made, all but one of the audits 
received a Substantial rating. In my opinion, there are 
no significant weaknesses that fall within the scope 
of issues that should be reported in the Governance 
Statement.”

The above statement and associated Internal Audit 
Report and Opinion 2019-20 took into account NLB's 
successful maintenance of their ISO certification and 
associated Audit programme. This highlighted that  
NLB Management carried out a range of compliance 
reviews during 2019/20 utilising their UKAS accredited 
external audit body DNV GL. These included:
 
Ongoing surveillance audits against the requirements 
of their various standards incorporating: 

2 X 5 day Integrated Management Systems Audits 
covering: 

• ISO 9001:20015 Quality Management Systems 
• ISO 14001: 2015 Environmental Management 

Systems 
• OHSAS 18001 2007 Ocupational Health and Safety 

management System (Replaced by ISO 45001: 
2018) 

2x 1 Day Management System Audits covering 

• ISO 27001: 2013 Information Management and 
Security 

In addition, during early 2019 NLB conducted a 
‘Gap Analysis’ to enable them to progress with their 
transition from OHSAS 18001 to the first international 
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Occupational Health and Safety Management 
Standard (ISO 45001 2018). In Sept 2019, following an 
extended external audit process, NLB were the first 
GLA to achieve this standard, well in advance of the 
Oct 2021 deadline when OHSAS 18001 will become 
obsolete. 

NLB has further developed the scope and capability 
of its in-house audit activity. It has delivered a 
programme of risk based in-house cross departmental 
audits and inspections, within the context of their 
ISO 9001:2015 requirements. These are sponsored 
by Senior Managers and take an integrated approach 
driving a culture of continuous improvement 
throughout the organisation. 

A total of 46 internal audits were completed covering 
the following thematic focus areas: 

• Information Management and Security 
• Electrical Safety & Engineering Processes 
• Purchasing and Stock Management 
• T&S Claims 
• Health and Safety and Environment 
• GDPR 
• Business and Risk Management Systems 
• ISM Code* 
• Project management 
• Stock Management 
• Zoned Boat Supplier Audits 
• Construction Site Inspections 

The outcomes of these reviews were considered 
as part of the annual opinion. It was noted that no 
significant non-conformities were raised that may 
impact the opinion. *It should also be noted that 
additional ISM Audits are also undertaken by external 
auditors, in addition to the MCA as the statutory 
regulator of the International Safety Management 
System in respect of NLB vessels. 

NLB submitted their Management Assurance Return 
(MAR) to the DfT for 19/20 in line with the required 
timescales. This followed on from the benchmarking 
work completed via the other GLAs and Audit and 
Risk Committee approval. All rated aspects were 
found to be substantial on the basis of the questions 
answered, however NLB are committed to ongoing 
continuous improvement within a wide range of the 

thematic areas covered. The MAR was also subject 
to a separate GIAA audit (as previously referenced) 
which resulted in a Substantial opinion being awarded 
and further bolstered the assurance associated with 
the overall process.

During the 2019/20, in addition to the delivery of 
their statutory functions and primary health and 
safety focus, NLB have continued to focus upon the 
consolidation of their Organisational Review and 
associated Programme for Change, commenced their 
vessel replacement programme and also taken the 
opportunity to seek an independent review of their 
Management Assurance Process in order to bolster 
this management control and ensure the effective 
harmonisation of the MAR and the GIAA Internal 
Audit Programme to provide all stakeholders with 
the highest levels of assurance in relation to the 
ongoing delivery of best value services by NLB. As 
per the GIAA’s Head of Audit’s statement, this was 
underpinned by the delivery of an associated risk 
based audit plan by GIAA as follows:
NLB 2019/20 Audit performance:

Audit Opinion
Organisational 

Review
Substantial

 
Key Financial 

Controls
Substantial

 
Vehicle 

Management
Moderate

 
Management 

Assurance Return
Substantial

 
Vessel 

replacement 
Project

Substantial

 

Overall GIAA 
Opinion 

Substantial

 

Forward Programme of GIAA Audit

Utilising NLB’s Corporate Risk Framework, the 
associated Risk Based Audit Programme for 
2020/21 aimed at targeting areas of potential risk 
and perceived weakness in order to challenge the 
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organisation  and further drive forward continuous 
improvement are as follows:

Fleet Co-ordination: Overview of management 
controls surrounding NLB fleet tasking of operational 
planning. Review the effectiveness of communications 
and the operational interface between the H.Q. 
Planning Team and Oban Operations Base.  

Sustainable Development: Review of NLB’s focus 
on Environmental management incorporating the 
mitigation of environmental aspects and impacts, in 
addition to NLB’s Response to the Climate Emergency. 
The audit will also review the integration of these with 
societal impacts, within the context of Sustainable 
Development.

Estates Management Process: Review the estates 
/ asset management processes and associated 
interfaces including, the management of neighbour 
relations, recording of titles and burdens in order 
to ensure optimum operational communications 
and understanding, in addition to addressing and 
minimising historic and or vicarious liabilities relating 
to public risk.

Vessel Replacement: Audit and formal gate review 
(validation) of PM approach adopted at pre-initiation 
stage in order to ensure appropriate project approach 
and framing.

Key Financial Controls: Annual health check of core 
financial and commercial activities, including all 
related controls.
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Assurance Landscape

As reflected the overarching system of control set out within this report, NLB’s assurance landscape for the 
forthcoming performance year is graphically set out below for ease of interpretation and the further assurance 
of our wide and varied stakeholders.
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Statement of the Responsibilities of the General Lighthouse Authorities’ Boards, the Secretary of State for 
Transport and the Accounting Officer

Under section 218 of the Merchant Shipping Act 1995 the Secretary of State for Transport, with the consent of 
HM Treasury, has directed NLB to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form of and on 
the basis set out in the Accounts Directive issued by the Secretary of State for Transport 25 September 2019. 
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of NLB 
and of income and expenditure, cash flows and changes in equity for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:

• Observe the Accounts Directive issued by the Secretary of State for Transport including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial Reporting Manual 
have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the accounts; and

• Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis.

• Confirm that, as far as he is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are 
unaware, and had taken all the steps that he ought to have taken to make himself aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

• Confirm that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and that 
he takes personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the judgements required for 
determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable.

The Accounting Officer of the Department for Transport has designated the Chief Executive as Accounting 
Officer of NLB. The responsibilities of the Accounting Officer include responsibility for the property and 
regularity of the funds allocated to NLB in its capacity as a General Lighthouse Authority and keeping proper 
records and safeguarding the assets of NLB, in its capacity as a General Lighthouse Authority.

These responsibilities are set out in the Framework Document which is the contractual agreement between 
the Department for Transport and the General Lighthouse Authorities.

Statement of Accounting Officer Responsibilities Remuneration and Staff Reports



Composition

The Board’s Remuneration Committee is made up of four Commissioners who have no personal financial 
interest, other than as Commissioners, in the matters to be decided, no potential conflicts of interest arising 
from cross-directorships, and no day-to-day involvement in running the Northern Lighthouse Board other 
than as members of the Board of Commissioners and the Managing Board.  The Committee has access to 
professional advice from inside and outside NLB.  

General

The creation of long-term effectiveness depends on the talents, contribution and commitment of all employees 
so NLB must be able to attract and retain people of high quality. It is essential that the remuneration 
structure should be competitive with those of comparable organisations.  NLB is required to comply with UK 
Government Pay Policy.  

Pay Award

NLB championed and received a 2 year Pay settlement covering 2019/20 and 2020/21 which was approved by 
Ministers and implemented February 2020 and August 2020 respectively. The significant strategic risk to the 
delivery of operations has now been effectively mitigated. 

The pay of the co-opted commissioners, Chief Executive and Directors followed UK Government Pay Policy. 

Remuneration of Executive Directors

Executive Directors’ Pensions

The Executive Directors are members of the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme which is an unfunded defined 
benefit scheme. The following table show the cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) of the director’s pension 
benefits accrued at the beginning and the end of the reporting period. A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) 
is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular 
point in time.

The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the 
scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another 
pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the pension benefits 
they have accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has 
accrued as a consequence of their total pensionable service in the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme, not just 
their current appointment. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute 
and Faculty of Actuaries.
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Remuneration and Staff Reports

Salary Payments 
£000’s

Bonus £000’s Benefits in Kind 
(to nearest £100)

Pension benefits 
(to nearest £000’s)

Total (£000’s)

2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19

Mike Bullock 125 - 130 125 - 130 - - - - 50 49 175 - 180 170 - 175

Mairi Rae 90 - 95 90 - 95 - - - - 33 35 125 - 130 125 - 130

Phillip Day 100 - 105 95 - 100 - - - - 42 50 140 - 145 150 - 155
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The table shows the real increase in the value of the CETV. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due 
to inflation and contributions paid by the director and is calculated using common market valuation factors for 
the start and end of the period.

Real 
Increase in 

pension
£000

Real 
increase 
in lump 

sum
£000

Accrued 
pension

£000

Accrued 
lump 
sum
£000

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value at 31 
March 2019

£000

Cash equivalent 
transfer value 
at 31 March 

2020
£000

Real 
increase 
in cash 

equivalent 
transfer 

value
£000

Employer 
contribution 

to 
partnership 

pension 
account

£000

Mike Bullock 2.5 - 5 - 15 - 20 - 264 211 35 -

Mairi Rae 0 - 2.5 - 20 - 25 - 291 246 22 -

Phillip Day 0 - 2.5 - 45 - 50 - 629 573 24 -

Service Agreements

Each of the Executive Directors has a Service Agreement which can be terminated by either the Board or the 
Executive Director serving 3 months notice.

Remuneration of Commissioners

Commissioners:

1. elected by the Board under, and subject to, the proviso set forth in Paragraphs 2 and 3 of Schedule 8 to the 
Merchant Shipping Act 1995 (the “Co- opted Commissioners”); or

2. nominated by the Lieutenant-Governor of the Isle of Man and appointed by the Secretary of State and 
Scottish Ministers.

Co-opted Commissioners are paid a basic remuneration per annum. With the exception of the Chairman and Vice-
Chairman, all other Commissioners are eligible for an additional daily payment for each day exceeding 20 days in 
the year.

Co-opted Commissioners are appointed for three years but may be re-appointed for further terms up to a normal 
limit of 10 years in accordance with guidance from the Commissioner of Public Appointments.

Ex-Officio Commissioners hold office for the duration of their qualifying office and are not paid.

Commissioners are not members of the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme and are not entitled to receive 
compensation for loss of office.

Commissioners are entitled to reclaim travel and subsistence costs at the same rates and under the same 
regulations that apply to employees.

2019/20                 
£

2018/19                 
£

Basic annual remuneration 10,593 10,299

Additional daily payment 533 500

Chairman’s remuneration 21,192 20,604

Vice-Chairman’s remuneration 14,124 13,732

Total amount paid including National Insurance Contributions 83,942 79,665
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The amount paid as remuneration to the 
Commissioners is analysed as follows:

Pay Multiples

The annualised remuneration, i.e. the full-time 
equivalent salary, of the highest-paid director in the 
financial year 2019/20 was within pay band £130-135k, 
(2018/19 pay band £125-130k). This was 3.9 times 
(2018/19, 4.0 times) the median remuneration of the 
workforce, which was £34,085 (2018/19, £31,192).

In 2019/20 (2018/19 - nil) no employees received 
remuneration in excess of the highest- paid director. 
Remuneration, excluding the highest paid director, 
ranged from £10,663 to £100k-£105k (2018/19 £10,299 
to £100k - £105k).

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated 
performance-related pay and benefits-in-kinds. It does 
not include severance payments, employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of 
pensions.

Staff Report

Employee involvement

NLB is committed to effective communications, which it 
maintains through formal and informal briefings, NLB's 
magazine (‘The Journal’), newsletters and electronic 
media, including its Intranet service and Facebook. 
There is also a standing invitation for staff members to 
observe Boards and Committee meetings.

Consultation with employees is undertaken through the 
recognised Trade Unions and various committees which 
cover all staff. The Chief Executive also chairs a Staff 
Council which meets four times a year.

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication) Regulations 
2017

Relevant Union Officials

Number of employees who were relevant 
union officials during the relevant period

5

Full-time equivalent employee number 5

Percentage of time spent on facility time

Percentage of time Number of employees
0% -

1-50% 5
51-99% -
100% -

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time

Total cost of facility time £1,153
Total pay bill £11,093,000

Percentage of the total pay 
bill spent on facility time, 

calculated as:
(total cost of facility time/

total pay bill) X 100

0.010%

Paid Trade Union Activities

Time spent on paid trade 
union activities as a 

percentage of total paid 
facility time hours calculated 

as: 
(total hours spent on paid 
trade union activities by 
relevant union officials 

during the relevant period ÷ 
total paid facility time hours) 

x 100 

No employee 
undertook paid trade 
union activities in the 

period.

2019/20                                   
£

2018/19                                    
£

Mike Brew (Chairman) 21,192 13,732
Alastair Beveridge (Vice 
Chairman)

14,124 10,299

Graham Crerar (Retired 
31/03/20)

10,593 20,604

Rob Woodward 10,593 10,299
Elaine Wilkinson 10,593 10,299
Hugh Shaw (Appointed 
01/08/2018)

10,593 6,866

Alistair MacKenzie (Retired 
31/07/18)

- 3,433
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Equality and Diversity

The Board ensures compliance with equality legislation 
at every stage of recruitment, staff transfer, promotion 
and employee management.  All employees must 
undertake a variety of Equality and Diversity Training 
to ensure that candidates and employees are not 
discriminated against.

Training and Development

There are a variety of training and development 
processes within NLB to ensure employees have the 
skills and knowledge to perform their roles safely 
and efficiently. Employees are encouraged to develop 
through performance and development systems, 
whereby personal development plans are produced on 
an annual basis for every member of staff. In addition, 
skill gaps are identified through careful strategic 
analysis and organisation wide development initiatives 
introduced as a result.

Gender Pay Gap Reporting

The NLB produced its 31 March 2018 Gender Pay Gap 
report in April 2019. There was no legal requirement 
for the NLB to produce the report as we have less than 
250 employees, however, the Board is supportive of any 
analysis and actions that can result in improved equality 
for women in the workplace. NLB Gender Pay Gap 
Reports are published on the NLB Website.

Apprenticeships

NLB continues to build on its investment in Rating 
and AtoN apprenticeships and plan to recruit further 
apprentices within the next year.

Tri-GLA staff

TH currently hosts three inter GLAs functions: GLA 
Research and Development (GRAD); the collection of 
light dues in the UK, and out-of-hours AtoN monitoring. 
Light dues collection is achieved using an internet based 
collection system, operated by Institute of Chartered 
Shipbrokers light dues collectors in each port. Other 
arrangements exist in the Republic of Ireland and the 
Isle of Man for the collection of light dues.
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NLB staff

2019/20 2018/19
Total Permanently 

employed 
staff

Others Total

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s
Wages and salaries 8,335 7,667 668 7,478
Social security costs 865 865 - 741
Sub-Total 9,200 8,532 668 8,219
PCSPS Pension Contribution 1,860 1,860 - 1,670
Other Contributions 33 33 - 30
Redundancy costs 173 173 - 138
Total net costs 11,266 10,598 668 10,057

Exit package cost band Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies  - 

Number of other 
departures agreed 

Total number of exit 
packages by cost 

band 
2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19

<£10,000 - - - - - -
£10,000 - £25,000 - - - 1 - 1
£25,000 - £50,000 - - 1 1 1 1
£50,000 - £100,000 - - 2 1 2 1
£100,000- £150,000 - - - - - -
£150,000- £200,000 - - - - - -
Total number of exit packages - - 3 3 3 3
Total Cost - - £155,948 £138,479 £155,948 £138,479

The average number of whole-time equivalent persons employed during the year was as follows:

2019/20 2018/19
Total Permanent 

Staff
Others Total

Directly Employed 174.0 174.0 - 168.9
Other 11.3 - 11.3 9.1
TOTAL 185.3 174.0 11.3 178.0

Report of Compensation Scheme Exit Packages
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Diversity information

Number of persons of each sex who were employed by the NLB as at 31 March 2020 was:

Female Male Total
Commissioners 4 15 19
Directors 1 2 3
Senior Managers 1 14 15
Employees 38 120 158
Total 44 151 195

Sick Absence

2019/20 2018/19
Total number of days lost due to sickness 2,321 1,941

Average number of days lost per employee 13.04 11.42

The average number of days lost per employee is based on total number employed of 178 which excludes 
Retained Lighthouse Keepers (RLKs), casual staff and Commissioners.

There has been an increase in sick absence since 2018/19 due to an increase in long term absence in 2019/20 
with a total of 22 staff (24 employees 2018/19) on longer term sick absence, accounting for 1,876 days. 
153 days absence was related to injury on duty (2018/19: 43 days), 4 (2018/19 : 3) people were affected, 3 
instances occurred on the vessels and 1 in Edinburgh Workshop.

Staff Relations

There were no instances of industrial action during the year (nil 2018/19)

Off-payroll engagements

The Northern Lighthouse Board has not entered into any off-payroll engagements during 2019/20 (2018/19 
nil). 

Expenditure on consultancy

The amount spent on consultancy was nil (2018/19 £38,794). There was no contingent labour expenditure 
within the consultancy cost during 2019/20 (2018/19 - nil).
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report

Losses and special payments

During 2019/20 there were 3 redundancy payments totalling £155,948 (2018/19 £138,479). One exit package was within 
the £25k-£50k cost band and two exit packages were within the £50k-£100k cost band.

Obsolete inventory amounting to £4,252 (2018/19 £2,210) has been written off during the year.  There were no instances 
of losses in the financial year (2018/19 £24,045).  Furthermore, there were no special payments in the financial year to 
report.

Fees and Charges

Light Dues, the principal source of income to the GLF, is a tax set annually in the UK by the Shipping Minister in 
accordance with the Merchant Shipping Act 1995. The rates are set at a level which balances income with expenditure; 
any surplus generated remains in the GLF to fund navigational Safety in a future period.

Contingent Liabilities

There are no remote contingent liabilities (2018/19 - nil).

Regularity of Expenditure

The Northern Lighthouse Board has complied with the regularity of expenditure requirements as set out in HM Treasury 
guidance.

Long-term Expenditure trends

The GLAs have an on-going strategy to collaborate using tri -GLA procurement arrangements whenever possible. 
During 2015/16 the GLAs entered into a seven year agreement with PDG Helicopters using two EC135 aircraft and this 
will deliver substantial savings of approximately £7.8m for the GLAs while guaranteeing high quality aircraft services 
through to 2022. GIAA audited the expected financial benefits of the contract in December 2017 and found the savings 
to be achievable. Ongoing review of the financial savings in 2019/20 further supports that the expected benefits will be 
realised.

The GLAs continued to provide important support to each other via the lnter-GLA Ship Sharing Agreement.  NLB did not 
provide nor utilise any vessels under this agreement in the 2019/20 financial year.  This agreement is, however, extremely 
important for all three GLAs providing service to the mariner as well as allowing each GLA greater scope and flexibility in 
utilising their vessels for commercial charter activities.

During the year the GLAs continue to effectively engage and collaborate at a strategic level via the Joint Strategic Board 
and at an operational level through the many lnter-GLA Committees (IGCs)

Audit Report

The accounting records of the Northern Lighthouse Board are examined by the UK Comptroller and Auditor General prior 
to consolidation in the Accounts of the GLF. The GLF Accounts are formally certified by the UK Comptroller and Auditor 
General under the terms of Section 211 of the Merchant Shipping Act 1995. There is no provision for a separate audit 
certificate to be appended to these Accounts. So far as the Chief Executive acting in the role of the Accounting Officer is 
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which Northern Lighthouse Board auditors are unaware. The Accounting 
Officer has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken to make himself aware of the relevant audit information and 
to establish that the Northern Lighthouse Board auditors are aware of that information. The Accounting Officer also 
confirms that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and that he takes personal 
responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair, balanced and 
understandable.

Mike Bullock
Chief Executive
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Financial Statements
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Financial Statements

 Note  31 March 2020             
£000’s 

 31 March 2019             
£000’s 

 Expenditure 
 Staff costs  3  11,266  10,057 
 Depreciation  8  3,388  4,695 
 Depreciation on Right of Use Assets  8a  1,916  -   
 Amortisation  10  2  33 
 Other expenditure  4  6,469  7,045 
 Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment  8  (168)  1,462 

 22,873  23,292 
 Income 
 Advances from the General Lighthouse Fund  23  23,930  20,773 
 Other income  2  1,249  849 

 25,179  21,622 

 Net Expenditure/(Income)  (2,306)  1,670 

 Dilapidation Provision  783  -   
 Interest payable/receivable  5 and 6  269  303 
 Net Expenditure after interest  (1,254)  1,973 
    
 Other Comprehensive Expenditure 
 Unrealised gains/losses from revaluations  8  (3,048)  1,467 
 Total Comprehensive Expenditure/(Income)  (4,302)  3,440 

The Notes on pages 64 to 87 form part of these Accounts.

Statement of Comprehensive Expenditure/(Income)
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 Note  31 March 2020             
£000’s 

 31 March 2019             
£000’s 

 Non-Current Assets 
 Property Plant & Equipment  8  88,027  98,568 
 Right of Use Assets  8a  14,474 -
 Intangible Assets  10  67  8 
 Trade and other receivables  11  67  40 
 Total Non-Current Assets  102,635  98,616 
 Current Assets 
 Inventories  13  838  780 
 Trade and other receivables  14  881  899 
 Cash and cash equivalents  15  693  802 
 Total Current Assets  2,412  2,481 
 Total Assets  105,047  101,097 
 Current Liabilities 
 Trade and other payables  16  5,127  5,475 
 Other liabilities  17  18  140 
 Total Current Liabilities  5,145  5,615 
 Non Current Assets plus / less Net Current Assets / 
Liabilities  

 99,902  95,482 

 Non-Current Liabilities 
 Provisions  17  788  -   
 Other payables  19.2  4,972  5,644 
 Total Non-Current Liabilities  5,760  5,644 
 Assets less Liabilities  94,142  89,838 
 Reserves 
 Accumulated Reserve  33,366  30,058 
 Revaluation Reserve  60,776  59,780 
 Total  94,142  89,838 

The notes on pages 64 to 87 form part of these Accounts.

The financial statements on pages 59 to 62 and related notes were approved by the Commissioners of 
Northern Lighthouses on 14 October 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Statement of Financial Position 
as at 31 March 2020

Mike Bullock
Chief Executive
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 Note  2019/20  2018/19 
 Cash flows from operating activities  £000’s  £000’s 
Net (Deficit)/surplus after interest  1,254  (1,973)
Loss on disposal of assets  4  3  12 
Depreciation  8 and 8a  5,467  4,695 
Amortisation  10  2  33 
Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment  8  (168)  1,462 
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables  11 and 14  (9)  (178)
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories  13  (58)  26 
Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables  16  (1,123)  1,274 
Provisions  17  665  140 
 Net cash outflow from operating activities  6,033  5,491 
Cash flow from investing activities 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  8, 8a and 10  (3,586)  (3,651)
Proceeds of disposal of property, plant and equipment  4  18  45 
Net cash outflow from investing activities  (3,568)  (3,606)
Cash flows from financing activities 
Capital element of payments in respect of finance 
leases  

 19.1 (a)  (2,574)  (1,821)

Net cash flow from financing activities  (2,574)  (1,821)
Net cash flow from all activities  (109)  64 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash in the period  (109)  64   
Cash at the beginning of the period  802 738 
Cash at the end of the period  693 802 

The notes on pages 64 to 87 form part of these Accounts.

Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 31 March 2020
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Accumulated 
Reserve 

 Revaluation 
Reserve 

 Total Reserves 

 £000  £000  £000 
 Balance at 31 March 2018  29,990  63,289  93,279 
 Gain/Losses on revaluation -  (1,467)  (1,467)
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure/(Income)  

 2,042  (2,042)  -   

 Retained Surplus/(Deficit)  (1,972) -  (1,972)
 Balance at 31 March 2019  30,060  59,780  89,840 
 Gain/Losses on revaluation -  3,048  3,048 

Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure/(Income)  

 2,052  (2,052)  -   

Retained Surplus/(Deficit)  1,254 -  1,254
 Balance at 31 March 2020  33,366  60,776  94,142 

Accumulated reserve

The general reserve represents the accumulated surplus of the organisation. 

Revaluation reserve

This represents any increase in an assets carrying amount as a result of revaluation. If the assets carrying 
amount is decreased as a result of a later revaluation, any previous revaluation gain is released back to the 
asset to the extent that it covers the decrease in valuation. Any decrease in valuation in excess of a previous 
gain is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. When an asset is de-recognised any 
gain held in respect of that asset is transferred directly to the General Reserve.

 

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 March 2020
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Notes to the Accounts
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1. Statement of Accounting policies

(a) Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared in accordance 
with the 2019/20 Government Financial Reporting 
Manual (FReM) issued by HM Treasury. The accounting 
policies contained in the FReM follow International 
Accounting Standards as adopted or interpreted for 
the public sector. Where the FReM permits a choice 
of accounting policy, the accounting policy which 
has been judged to be the most appropriate to the 
particular circumstances of the GLF for the purpose 
of giving a true and fair view has been selected. 
The GLF’s accounting policies have been applied 
consistently in dealing with items considered material 
in relation to the accounts. In addition, the GLAs’ 
accounts have been prepared in accordance with the 
Accounts Directive issued by the Secretary of State for 
Transport 25 September 2019.

(b) Going concern

The Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 
2020 shows net assets of £94,142,000. It has 
accordingly been considered appropriate to adopt 
a going concern basis for the preparation of these 
financial statements

(c) Intangible assets

Computer Software has been capitalised and is 
amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful economic life of between
3 to 5 years dependent on the expected operating life 
of the asset. Intangible Assets are shown at cost less 
amortisation. Intangible licences have been capitalised 
and are amortised over the life of the licence.

Amortisation is calculated on an annual basis and is 
commenced in the year after original purchase or 
when the asset is brought into use and is continued up 
to the end of the year prior to disposal.

 (d) Non-current assets and depreciation 

Capitalisation Policy
Non-current assets are recognised where the 
economic life of the item of property plant and 

equipment exceeds one year; the cost of the item can 
be reliably measured; and the original cost is greater 
than £5,000.
Assets are recognised initially at cost, which comprises 
purchase price, any costs of bringing assets to the 
location and condition necessary for them to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended, and 
initial estimates of the costs of dismantling and 
removing the assets where an obligation to dismantle 
or remove the assets arises from their acquisition or 
usage.

Subsequent costs of day-to-day servicing are 
expensed as incurred. Where regular major 
inspections of assets are required for their continuing 
operation, the costs of such inspections are 
capitalised and the carrying value of the previous 
inspection
is derecognised, for example Dry Dock and Repair 
(DD&R) of ships.

Expenditure on renewal of structures is capitalised 
when the planned maintenance spend enhances 
or replaces the service potential of the structure. 
All routine maintenance expenditure is charged to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. 
Internal staff costs that can be attributed directly to 
the construction of an asset, including renewals of 
structures that are capitalised, are capitalised.

Operating software, without which related hardware 
cannot operate, is capitalised, with the value of the 
related hardware, as property, plant and equipment. 
Application software, which is not an integral part of 
the related hardware, is capitalised separately as an 
intangible non-current asset.

Any gains or losses on the eventual disposal of 
property, plant and equipment are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure when 
the asset is derecognised. Gains are not classed as 
revenue.

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2020
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Valuation

After recognition, the item of property, plant and equipment is carried at Fair Value in accordance with IAS16 
and the current FReM. The assets are expressed at their current value at regular valuation or through the 
application of Modified Historic Cost Accounting. For assets of low value and/or with a useful life of 5 years or 
less, depreciated historic cost (DHC) is considered as a proxy for fair value.

NLB as part of the tri-GLA working party has standardised the modern equivalent replacement value of AToN’s. 
This standardised methodology is utilised at each valuation. 

Asset Class Valuation Method Valued by

Non Specialised Land & Buildings Fair Value, using Existing 
Use Valuation principles

RICS Valuation Statement (UKVS) 
1.1 Professional valuation every 
5 years. Value plus indices in 
Intervening years.

Specialised Property Fair Value using Depreciated 
Replacement 
Cost principles (DRC)

RICS Valuation Statement (UKVS) 
1.1 Professional valuation every 
5 years.  Value plus indices in 
Intervening years.

Non Operational Property* Market Value Specified as Obsolete, Assets Held 
for Sale or Investment Assets. 
Professional Valuation annually.

Tenders, Ancillary Craft & Lightvessels Fair Value Professional Valuation Annually

Buoys Fair Value Internally using MV of recent 
purchases, then on an annual 
basis using MV of recent 
purchases, or recognised indices, 
as appropriate.

Beacons Fair Value RICS Valuation Statement (UKVS) 
1.1 (valued at DRC if specialised 
and defined as such under the 
RICS Red Book) valuation every 
5 years, Value plus indices in 
intervening years.

Plant, Machinery & IT Equipment - Low 
Value or short life

Depreciated Historic Cost N/A

Plant & Machinery – Not included above. Fair Value RICS Valuation Statement (UKVS) 
4.1 & 4.3 Professional valuation 
as base cost, plus indices annually 
thereafter.

Plant and Machinery at Lighthouses FV using Depreciated 
Replacement Cost principles 
(DRC)

UKVS 1.1 (valued at DRC if 
specialised and defined as 
such under the RICS Red Book) 
Professional valuation every 5
years, Value plus indices in 
intervening years

*Non Operational in this context relates to property that is not required for the GLA to carry out its statutory 
function.
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Where assets are re-valued through professional 
valuation or through the use of indices, the 
accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation 
is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the 
asset and the net amount restated to the re-valued 
amount of the asset. If the assets carrying amount
is increased as a result of revaluation, the increase 
is recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity in the Revaluation Reserve. 
However, the increase shall be recognised in the 
statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure to the 
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of
that class of asset previously recognised in profit and 
loss. If the assets carrying amount is decreased as a 
result of revaluation, the decrease is recognised in 
the statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. 
However, the decrease shall be recognised in other 
comprehensive income to the extent of any credit 
balance existing in the revaluation reserve. The 
decrease recognised in other comprehensive income 
reduces the amount held in the revaluation reserve in 
respect of that asset.

Depreciation is calculated on an annual basis and 
is commenced in the financial year after original 
purchase or when the asset is brought into use and is 
continued up to the end of the financial year in which 
the sale or disposal takes place. Assets in the course 
of construction are not depreciated.

Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis having 
regard to the estimated operating lives as follows:

e) Inventories

As per the FReM, Inventories are valued by using the 
Average Cost method.

CATEGORIES DEPRECIATION LIVES

Land and Buildings

Land Not Depreciated

Lighthouse (building 
structure)

75 to 150 years

Lighthouse improvement 25 years or 
remaining life if less

Buildings 50 years

CATEGORIES DEPRECIATION LIVES

Tenders & Ancillary Craft

Tenders 25 years or 
remaining life if less

Tenders (Dry Dock and 
Repair)**

2 to 5 years

Workboats 10 years

Buoys

Steel Buoy Bodies 50 years or 
remaining life if less

Plastic Buoys 10 years

Superstructure 5 to 15 years

Plant and Equipment

Lighthouses 15 to 25 years

Automation Equipment 15 to 25 years

Racons 15 to 25 years

AIS Equipment 7 years

DGPS Equipment 10 years

Depot/Workshops 10 to 25 years

Office Equipment 10 years

Vehicles 5 to 15 years

Computers - major systems 5 years

Computers - other 3 years

* Depending on Dry Docking Schedule.
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f) Research and Development

Research and Development work is co- ordinated 
by the GRAD Policy Committee for Major Research 
and Development. Direct expenditure incurred via 
this channel or any other research and development 
activity is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure/(Income) in Trinity House’s Report 
and Accounts as expenditure on behalf of all GLAs.

g) Leasing Commitments

Scope and classification

In accordance with IFRS 16, contracts, or parts of 
a contract that convey the right to use an asset in 
exchange for consideration are accounted for as 
leases. The FReM expands the scope of IFRS 16 to 
include arrangements with nil consideration.

Contracts for services are evaluated to determine 
whether they convey the right to control the use of 
an identified asset, as represented by rights both to 
obtain substantially all the economic benefits from 
that asset and to direct its use. In such cases, the 
relevant part is treated as a lease. 

Low-value items are excluded from lease treatment, 
defined as items costing less than £5,000 when 
new, provided they are not highly dependent on or 
integrated with other items. Contracts with a term 
shorter than twelve months are also excluded.

They lease term comprises the non-cancellable period, 
together with any extension options it is reasonably 
certain will be exercised and any termination options 
it is reasonably certain will not be exercised.

Initial recognition

At the commencement of a lease (or the IFRS 16 
transition date, if later), the GLA recognises a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability. 
The lease liability is measured as the sum of 
payments, net of value added tax, for the remaining 
lease term (as defined above), discounted either by 
the rate implicit in the lease, or, where this cannot 
be determined, the incremental cost of government 
borrowing provided by HMT. The payments included 
in the liability are those that are fixed or in-substance 
fixed, excluding changes arising, for example, from 
future rent reviews or changes in an index.

The right-of-use (RoU) asset is measured at the 
value of the liability, adjusted for: any payments 
made before the commencement date; lease 
incentives received; incremental costs of obtaining 
the lease; and any disposal costs at the end of the 
lease. However, where the lease requires nominal 
consideration (a type of arrangement often described 
as a “peppercorn” lease), the asset is measured at its 
existing use value.

Subsequent Measurement

RoU assets are subsequently measured using the fair 
value model. The GLA considers that the cost model is 
a reasonable proxy for the fair value model for leases 
of items other than land and property, and for leases 
of land and property with regular rent reviews. For 
other leases, the asset is carried at a revalued amount.  

The liability is adjusted for the accrual of interest, 
repayments, reassessments and modifications. 
Reassessments and modifications are measured by 
re-discounting the revised cash flows; the impact 
is reflected in the liability and either in the asset 
valuation or expenditure.

Lease Expenditure

Expenditure includes interest, straight-line 
depreciation, any asset impairments and any change 
in variable lease payments not included in the 
measurement of the liability during the period in 
which the triggering event occurred. Lease payments 
are debited against the liability. Rental payments for 
leases of low-value items or for those shorter than 
twelve months are expensed.

Leases as the Lessor 

Where the GLA acts as lessor, it assesses whether 
those leases are finance or operating leases. 
For finance leases, it derecognises the asset 
and recognises a receivable.  Interest is accrued 
throughout the financial year and is recognised 
in income. For operating leases, rental income is 
recognised on a systematic basis, usually straight-line, 
over the lease term.

Transitional arrangements

The following arrangement have been applied to 
transition from IAS 17 to IFRS 16.
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Adoption of IFRS 16 using the cumulative catch up 
method i.e. without restatement of comparative 
balances. Consequently, the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure and the Statement of 
Financial Position for 2018-19 reflect the requirements 
of IAS 17;
No reassessment of the classification of contracts 
previously classified as leases or service contracts 
under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. However, new contracts 
have been classified using the IFRS 16 criteria;

For leases previously treated as operating leases: 

To measure the liability at the present value of the 
remaining payments, discounted by the incremental 
cost of borrowing as at the transition date; 

To measure the asset at an amount equal to the 
liability, adjusted for any prepayment or accrual 
balances previously recognised for that lease;

To exclude leases whose term ends within twelve 
months of first adoption;

To use hindsight in assessing remaining lease terms;

For leases previously treated as finance leases:
To use the carrying amount of the lease asset and 
liability measured immediately before first adoption 
under IAS 17 as the carrying value of the right-of-use 
asset and lease liability as at first adoption.

Estimates and judgements 

For embedded leases, the GLA determines the 
amounts to be recognised as the right-of-use asset 
and lease liability based on the stand-alone price of 
the lease component and the non-lease component 
or components. This determination reflects the prices 
for leases of the underlying asset, where these are 
observable; otherwise, it maximises the use of other 
observable data, including the fair values of similar 
assets, or prices of contracts for similar non-lease 
components.
Some contracts cover both a lease of land which the 
lessee controls and rights of access through adjacent 
land which the lessee does not control. In more 
remote locations, where stand-alone prices are not 
readily observable, the GLA has elected to take the 
practical expedient of treating the entire contract as a 
lease.

The FReM requires that right-of-use assets held under 
“peppercorn” leases should be measured at existing 
use value. These leases include historic, long-term 
leases as well as more recent arrangements. The 
GLA has distinguished these from leases in which 
the consideration is low, but proportionate to the 
asset’s value (for example, the lease of a small area 
of land with few alternative uses). This distinction 
reflects, so far as possible, recent, observable market 
arrangements for comparable assets (for example, 
current rentals).

When an existing use value is required for low values 
or peppercorn leases, this is calculated based on 
similar arrangements within the estate i.e. using 
current rentals for similar property as a proxy. If 
similar arrangements are not available a professional 
valuation is sought.

Leases under IAS 17 (2018/19 only)

Arrangements conveying the right to use an asset 
are treated as leases, regardless of their legal form. 
Leases are classified as finance leases if the risks and 
rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. 
Finance leases are capitalised at the commencement 
of the lease term at the lower of the fair value of the 
leased item or the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. Finance charges are allocated 
between periods to achieve a constant rate of interest 
on the remaining liability balance and are charged 
directly against operating expenditure. Capitalised 
leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the 
estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Other leases are classified as operating leases. 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense in Net Operating Expenditure on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

h) Foreign Currency Transactions

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the rate of exchange 
ruling at the reporting date.

i) Taxation

The fund is exempt from Corporation Tax under 
provisions of Section 221 of the Merchant Shipping 
Act 1995. The GLAs are liable to account for VAT on 
charges rendered for services and are able to reclaim 
VAT on all costs under the provisions of the Value 
Added Tax Act 1983.
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j) Provisions

Provisions are made for liabilities and charges in 
accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets where, at the 
reporting date, a legal or constructive liability (i.e. 
a present obligation from a past event) exists, the 
transfer of economic benefits is probable and a 
reasonable estimate can be made.

 k) Government Grants

Government Grants are recognised in full in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure in the 
year in which they are received.

l) Investment Properties

The GLAs hold a small number of properties that are 
considered surplus to requirements and are currently 
held for their income generation potential. It has 
been agreed that this alternative use is in the best 
interests of the GLAs and the General Lighthouse 
Fund. These properties are treated in accordance 
with IAS 40: Accounting for Investment Properties 
and are accordingly valued to open market value each 
year.  NLB do not hold any property as anything other 
than on an operational basis.  This is following the 
reclassification of Mull of Kintyre and Rinns of Islay 
from investment properties to property, plant and 
equipment in 2018/19.

m) Investments

Investments are stated at market value at the 
reporting date.

n) Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial instruments are contractual arrangements 
that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and 
a financial liability or equity instrument of another 
entity. Financial assets are typically cash or rights to 
receive cash or equity instruments in another entity. 
Financial liabilities are typically obligations to transfer 
cash. A contractual right to exchange financial assets 
or liabilities with other entities will
also be a financial asset or liability, depending on 
whether the conditions are potentially favourable or 
adverse to the reporting entity.

Financial Assets
Loans, trade receivables and accrued income are 
covered by the financial instruments standards IFRS 9 
and, for the comparative year, IAS 39. 

Financial assets were previously categorised as 
loans and receivables under IAS 39 and have been 
categorised as financial assets held at amortised cost 
under IFRS 9. Loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market and which 
are not classified as available-for sale. Such assets are 
initially recognised at fair value. Where material, they 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. Credit loss allowances 
for trade receivables and similar arrangements are 
measured at the lifetime expected credit loss where 
material.
 
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair 
value and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. Financial liabilities are derecognised when 
extinguished.

Embedded Derivatives
Some hybrid contracts contain both a derivative 
and a non-derivative component. In such cases, 
the derivative component is termed an embedded 
derivative. Where the economic characteristics and 
risks of the embedded derivatives are not closely 
related to those of the host contract, and the host 
contract itself is not carried at fair value through profit 
or loss, the embedded
derivative is split out and reported at fair value with 
gains and losses being recognised in the Income and 
Expenditure Account. A review
of all GLA contracts has determined that, as at 31 
March 2018, no contracts contained embedded 
derivatives.

Determining Fair Value
Fair value is defined as the amount for which an 
asset is settled or a liability extinguished, between 
knowledgeable parties, in an arm’s length transaction. 
This is generally taken
to be the transaction value, unless, where material, 
the fair value needs to reflect the time value of 
money, in which case the fair value would be 
calculated from discounted cash flows.
 
o) New Standards and Interpretations Adopted 

Early

IFRS 16 (Leases) has been adopted for the first 
time in these financial statements, one year earlier 
that required by the FReM. The Secretary of State 
for transport issued the GLF and the GLAs with an 
accounts direction mandating early adoption to ensure 
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accounting policy is aligned across the transport group 
which also adopted early. This standard is adopted 
by the cumulative catch-up method, as such, the 
comparatives for 2018-19 reflect the requirements of 
IAS 17 (Leases). 

p) New standards and interpretations not yet 
adopted

The following accounting standards and The standards 
listed below are not yet effective for the year ended 
31 March 2020 and have not been applied in preparing 
these financial statements. 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts requires a discounted cash 
flow approach to accounting for insurance contracts. 
Subject to EU adoption, it may become effective for 
accounting periods commencing on, or after, 1 January 
2021 and should be included in the 2021-22 FReM at 
the earliest. The GLA considers that it has no contracts 
which meet the definition of insurance contracts.
The GLA does not consider that any other new, 
or revised standards, or interpretation will have a 
material impact

q) Income

In accordance with the Merchant Shipping Act 1995, 
the GLAs are permitted to sell surplus capacity. Income 
from these activities is recognised in the period to 
which it relates.
The principal source of income for the GLF is Light 
Dues, a tax on ships entering the UK or the Republic of 
Ireland, in addition to RoI light Dues the GLF receives 
a contribution form the Irish Government towards the 
work of Irish Lights in the Republic.

r) Estimates

NLB may be liable as described in note 22 for any 
shortfall in the MNOPF pension fund.  NLB takes advice 
from qualified actuaries in determining the extent of 
any shortfall and whether it may be required to make 
further contributions.

Aside from this, key estimates in the accounts of NLB 
relate to asset valuations.  A number of qualified 
surveyors are engaged to provide professional 
valuations of different elements of the asset base as 
disclosed in note 8.  

Specific estimation uncertainty arises in respect of the 
valuation of the lighthouse estate, the Depreciated 
Replacement Cost of which constitutes the largest 

element of the buildings category in note 8.  Key 
assumptions are made in the following areas.

• For each lighthouse, the GLA selects a modern 
equivalent asset (MEA) based on the navigation 
requirement at the asset’s location. This selection 
is based on a decision tree common to each of 
the GLAs which draws on key considerations for 
construction strategy such as whether a structure 
is onshore or offshore; and the degree of challenge 
posed by wave patterns at the location.  The 
analysis of available construction techniques draws 
on the professional expertise of suitable expert 
GLA staff and the options emerging from recent 
case studies into possible rebuild or refurbishment 
work following market engagement.  The design 
of this decision tree is a matter of professional 
judgement since more prudent engineering 
assumptions will tend towards the selection of 
more expensive MEAs, risking overvaluation, 
while more aggressive engineering assumptions 
will tend towards less expensive ones, risking 
undervaluation through optimism bias. 

• Costing rates are determined for the gross 
replacement cost of each MEA, establishing a 
standard valuation to apply to each lighthouse in 
that category rather than costing each lighthouse 
individually.  This portfolio approach is permitted 
by the FReM and RICS ‘Red Book’.  These are 
determined based on the most recent available 
data from case studies, with a consideration of 
indexation.  Adjustment factors are applied based 
on location and physical characteristics of the 
site, to reflect the varying difficulty and cost of 
construction, e.g. for remote islands.

• As required by the FReM, a discount is made to 
the gross replacement cost to reflect the GLA’s 
assessment of the proportion of each lighthouse’s 
useful life which has been expended.  Condition 
point estimates which drive the measurement 
of this discount are based on the available data 
in respect of asset condition (including age), 
combined with professional judgement which 
considers the type of construction for the asset in 
use.

s) Prior Year Adjustment

There are no prior year adjustments to account for in 
2019/20 
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 2. Other Income
2019/20                                

£000's
2018/19                                

£000's

Buoy Rental 261 238
Property Rental 32 24
Other Commercial Income 301 63
Ship Hire 475 387
Use of berth at NLB Oban 115 91
Sundry Receipts 27 28
Scottish Government Grant 38 18
Total 1,249 849

3. Staff Numbers and Related Costs
2019/20 2018/19

Total Total
£000’s £000’s

Wages and salaries 8,335  7,478 
Social security costs 865  741 
Sub-Total 9,200  8,219 
PCSPS Pension Contribution 1,860  1,670 
Other Contributions 33  30 
Redundancy costs 173  138 
Total Net Costs 11,266 10,057

Pension Commitments can be found at Note 20.

4. Other expenditure
2019/20 2018/19

£000’s £000’s
Running Costs 6,452 6,300
(Gain)/Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (18) (45)
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 21 57
Rentals under operating leases - 733
Rentals on low value leases 14 -
Total 6,469 7,045

4(a) Net expenditure on behalf of all General Lighthouse Authorities
2019/20 2018/19

£000’s £000’s
Legal fees for the collection of light dues 4 2
Total 4 2
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5. Interest receiveable
2019/20 2018/19

£000’s £000’s
Bank deposits 2 1
Total 2 1

6. Interest payable
2019/20 2018/19

£000’s £000’s
On lease of NLV Pole Star 109 126
On lease of NLV Pharos 125 178
On lease of Plant and Equipment 32 -
On lease of Buildings 4 -
On Lease of Land 1 -
Total 271 304

7. Impairments

Following the revaluation of property, plant and equipment to Fair Value there are no impairments to assets 
however there is a gain on revaluation of £167,684 (2018/19: £1,462,445 loss) which has been reported in the 
tatement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure/(Income).

 



Page 73

La
nd

                                        
£0

00
's

Bu
ild

in
gs

                     
£0

00
's

Te
nd

er
s                      

£0
00

's
Bu

oy
s                          

£0
00

's
In

fo
rm

ati
on

 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

                   
£0

00
's

Pl
an

t &
 

Eq
ui

pm
en

t                 
£0

00
's

Pa
ym

en
ts

 
on

 A
cc

ou
nt

 
&

 A
ss

et
s 

un
de

r C
on

-
st

ru
cti

on
 

£0
00

's

To
ta

l              
£0

00
's

Fi
na

nc
ia

l Y
ea

r 2
01

9/
20

At
 1

 A
pr

il 
20

19
1,

81
0

57
,3

46
13

,1
95

7,
93

0
1,

15
8

18
,5

90
82

9
10

0,
85

8
Ad

di
tio

ns
-

46
3

-
6

57
42

0
1,

39
6

2,
34

2
Di

sp
os

al
s

-
-

-
-

 (1
0)

 (1
59

)
-

 (1
69

)
Re

cl
as

s
-

-
 (1

3,
19

5)
-

-
-

-
 (1

3,
19

5)
AU

C 
tr

an
sf

er
s

-
11

-
-

-
16

0
 (1

88
)

 (1
7)

Re
va

lu
ati

on
s

 (1
25

)
2,

04
5

-
-

-
 (7

17
)

-
1,

20
3

At
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
02

0
1,

68
5

59
,8

65
-

7,
93

6
1,

20
5

18
,2

94
2,

03
7

91
,0

22

De
pr

ec
ia

tio
n

At
 1

 A
pr

il 
20

19
-

-
45

56
2

44
8

1,
23

4
-

2,
28

9
Ch

ar
ge

d 
in

 y
ea

r
-

65
6

-
54

6
15

7
2,

02
9

-
3,

38
8

Di
sp

os
al

s
-

-
-

-
 (1

0)
 (1

38
)

-
 (1

48
)

Re
cl

as
sifi

ca
tio

ns
-

-
 (4

5)
-

-
-

-
 (4

5)
Re

va
lu

ati
on

s
-

 (6
55

)
-

-
-

 (1
,8

34
)

-
 (2

,4
89

)

At
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
02

0
-

1
-

1,
10

8
59

5
1,

29
1

-
2,

99
5

N
et

 b
oo

k 
va

lu
e 

at
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

9
1,

81
0

57
,3

45
13

,1
50

7,
36

8
71

1
17

,3
55

82
9

98
,5

68

N
et

 b
oo

k 
va

lu
e 

at
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
02

0
1,

68
5

59
,8

64
-

6,
82

8
61

0
17

,0
03

2,
03

7
88

,0
27

O
w

ne
d

1,
68

5
59

,8
64

-
6,

82
8

61
0

17
,0

03
2,

03
7

88
,0

27

N
et

 b
oo

k 
va

lu
e 

at
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
02

0
1,

68
5

59
,8

64
-

6,
82

8
61

0
17

,0
03

2,
03

7
88

,0
27

8.
 

 P
ro

pe
rt

y,
 p

la
nt

 a
nd

 e
qu

ip
m

en
t



Page 74

La
nd

                                        
£0

00
's

Bu
ild

in
gs

                     
£0

00
's

Te
nd

er
s                      

£0
00

's
Bu

oy
s                          

£0
00

's
In

fo
rm

ati
on

 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

                   
£0

00
's

Pl
an

t &
 

Eq
ui

pm
en

t                 
£0

00
's

Pa
ym

en
ts

 
on

 A
cc

ou
nt

 
&

 A
ss

et
s 

un
de

r C
on

-
st

ru
cti

on
 

£0
00

's

To
ta

l              
£0

00
's

Fi
na

nc
ia

l Y
ea

r 2
01

8/
19

Co
st

At
 1

 A
pr

il 
20

18
1,

81
3

58
,4

12
14

,2
33

7,
90

1
98

4
19

,3
27

82
1

10
3,

49
1

Ad
di

tio
ns

-
1,

57
8

77
6

29
60

61
4

59
8

3,
65

5
Di

sp
os

al
s

-
-

-
-

-
(1

86
)

-
(1

86
)

Re
cl

as
s

-
79

6
-

-
-

(1
27

)
-

66
9

AU
C 

tr
an

sf
er

s
-

43
2

-
-

11
4

32
(5

90
)

(1
2)

Re
va

lu
ati

on
s

(3
)

(3
,8

72
)

(1
,8

14
)

-
-

(1
,0

69
)

-
(6

,7
58

)
At

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
9

1,
81

0
57

,3
46

13
,1

95
7,

93
0

1,
15

8
18

,5
90

82
9

10
0,

85
8

De
pr

ec
ia

tio
n

At
 1

 A
pr

il 
20

18
-

-
-

16
31

5
1,

22
2

-
1,

55
3

Ch
ar

ge
d 

in
 y

ea
r

-
68

3
1,

46
7

54
6

13
3

1,
86

6
-

4,
69

5
Di

sp
os

al
s

-
-

-
-

-
(1

29
)

-
(1

29
)

Re
va

lu
ati

on
s

-
(6

83
)

(1
,4

22
)

-
-

(1
,7

25
)

-
(3

,8
30

)

At
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

9
-

-
45

56
2

44
8

1,
23

4
-

2,
28

9
N

et
 b

oo
k 

va
lu

e 
at

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
8

1,
81

3
58

,4
12

14
,2

33
7,

88
5

66
9

18
,1

05
82

1
10

1,
93

8
N

et
 b

oo
k 

va
lu

e 
at

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
9

1,
81

0
57

,3
45

13
,1

50
7,

36
8

71
1

17
,3

55
82

9
98

,5
68

O
w

ne
d

1,
81

0
57

,3
45

-
7,

36
8

71
1

17
,3

55
82

9
85

,4
18

Fi
na

nc
e 

Le
as

ed
-

-
13

,1
50

-
-

-
-

13
,1

50
N

et
 b

oo
k 

va
lu

e 
at

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
9

1,
81

0
57

,3
45

13
,1

50
7,

36
8

71
1

17
,3

55
82

9
98

,5
68



Page 75

La
nd

                                        
£0

00
's

Bu
ild

in
gs

                     
£0

00
's

Te
nd

er
s                      

£0
00

's
Pl

an
t &

 
Eq

ui
pm

en
t                 

£0
00

's

To
ta

l  
   

   
   

   
£0

00
's

Fi
na

nc
ia

l Y
ea

r 2
01

9/
20

Co
st

At
 1

 A
pr

il 
20

19
33

18
7

13
,1

95
2,

44
1

15
,8

56
Ad

di
tio

ns
-

-
1,

19
9

-
1,

19
9

Re
m

ea
su

re
m

en
t

-
-

-
18

18
Re

va
lu

ati
on

s (
co

st
)

-
-

(1
,8

43
)

-
(1

,8
43

)
At

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

02
0

33
18

7
12

,5
51

2,
45

9
15

,2
30

De
pr

ec
ia

tio
n

At
 1

 A
pr

il 
20

19
-

-
45

-
45

Ch
ar

ge
d 

in
 y

ea
r

9
30

1,
37

4
66

6
2,

07
9

Re
va

lu
ati

on
s (

de
pr

ec
ia

tio
n)

-
-

(1
,3

68
)

-
(1

,3
68

)
At

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

02
0

9
30

51
66

6
75

6
Ca

rr
yi

ng
 v

al
ue

 a
t 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
02

0
24

15
7

12
,5

00
1,

79
3

14
,4

74
Le

as
ed

24
15

7
12

,5
00

1,
79

3
14

,4
74

Ca
rr

yi
ng

 v
al

ue
 a

t 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

02
0

24
15

7
12

,5
00

1,
79

3
14

,4
74

8(
a)

. 
 R

ig
ht

 o
f u

se
 a

ss
et

s

Le
as

ed
 a

ss
et

 d
ep

re
ci

ati
on

 in
 th

e 
So

CN
I i

s l
es

s £
16

3k
 in

 re
sp

ec
t o

f h
el

ic
op

te
r d

ep
re

ca
tio

n 
ch

ar
ge

d 
to

 c
ap

ita
l. 

 
La

nd
 le

as
es

 c
om

pr
ise

 o
f a

cc
es

s a
nd

 g
ro

un
d 

re
nt

 o
f t

he
 A

To
N

s,
 th

er
e 

ar
e 

cu
rr

en
tly

 4
 la

nd
 le

as
es

 o
n 

th
e 

re
gi

st
er

 u
nd

er
 P

PE
.  

Bu
ild

in
gs

 le
as

es
 a

re
 a

ll 
fo

r r
en

te
d 

offi
ce

 sp
ac

e 
in

 th
e 

N
or

th
 o

f S
co

tla
nd

, t
he

re
 a

re
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 4
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

le
as

es
 

on
 th

e 
re

gi
st

er
.  

Te
nd

er
s l

ea
se

s i
nc

lu
de

 th
e 

fin
an

ce
 le

as
e 

fo
r N

LB
's 

2 
ve

ss
el

's 
Ph

ar
os

 a
nd

 P
ol

es
ta

r. 
 

P&
E 

le
as

e 
co

m
pr

ise
s o

f o
ne

 le
as

e 
fo

r N
LB

's 
sh

ar
e 

of
 th

e 
he

lic
op

te
r l

ea
se

, fi
xe

d 
ch

ar
ge

s o
nl

y.
  T

he
re

 is
 a

n 
op

tio
n 

to
 e

xt
en

d 
th

e 
le

as
e,

 b
y 

up
 to

 th
re

e 
ye

ar
s,

 b
ey

on
d 

it'
s i

ni
tia

l c
on

tr
ac

t p
er

io
d 

w
hi

ch
 e

nd
s i

n 
De

ce
m

be
r 

20
22

.

Bu
ild

in
gs

 le
as

es



Page 76

Summary of the 2019/20 PPE Revaluation is set out below:
£000's

Loss on Property, Plant & Equipment to I&E 30
Revaluation Gains on Property, Plant & Equipment to reserves (4,482)
Revaluation Losses on Property, Plant & Equipment to reserves 761

(3,691)

Revaluation Movements 2019/20
Revaluation movement cost (1,202)
Revaluation movement cost accumulated depreciation (2,489)

(3,691)

Summary of the 2019/20 ROU Asset Revaluation is set out below:
£000's

Loss on Property, Plant & Equipment to I&E (198)
Revaluation Losses on Property, Plant & Equipment to reserves 673

475

Revaluation Movements 2019/20
Revaluation movement cost 1,843
Revaluation movement cost accumulated depreciation (1,368)

475

Summary of the 2019/20 Total Asset Revaluation is set out below:
£000's

Revaluation Gains on Property, Plant & Equipment to reserves (4,482)
Revaluation Losses on Property, Plant & Equipment to reserves 1,434

(3,048)
Loss on Property, Plant & Equipment to I&E (168)

(3,216)

Revaluation Movements 2019/20
Revaluation movement cost 640
Revaluation movement cost accumulated depreciation (3,856)

(3,216)
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Following the reclassification of NLB as a Central Government Body, the Department for Transport issued a 
new Accounts Directive in February 2013, requiring that Property Plant and Equipment is valued at Fair Value 
as per IAS16 and the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM). As a result NLB Board has carried out 
an extensive exercise to obtain valuations for all items of Property Plant and Equipment on the basis outlined 
in note 1 (e). As part of this exercise professional valuations as at 31 March 2018, were obtained from DVS 
Property Specialists and Braemar ACM Valuations Limited.  In between the quinquennial valuation exercise, 
valuations are indexation based.  Indexation based valuations were received on the 31 March 2020, the next 
full valuation will be carried out on in 2023.  The work by DVS Property Specialists was co-ordinated and 
managed by John McClimens MRICS.  The work by Braemar ACM Valuations Limited was co-ordinated and 
managed by Charles Cundall.

Asset Organisation
Land & Buildings; Oban; Lighthouses; Plant and 
Machinery, Investment Assets

DVS Property Specialists

Ships Braemar ACM Seascope Valuations Limited

These valuations have been undertaken for capital accounting purposes in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as interpreted and applied by current HM Treasury guidance to the 
United Kingdom public sector. The valuations accord with the requirements of the Royal Institution of Charted 
Surveyors (RICS) – Professional Standards (known as the Red Book) insofar as these are consistent with IFRS 
and Treasury guidance.

Surveyors have reported that COVID-19 is a source of “material valuation uncertainty” as defined by the 
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Valuation – Global Standards, effective 31 January 2020. The 
following inference is made: that this does not mean that their valuations cannot be relied upon, but rather 
that less certainty should be attached to those valuations. For example, recent transactions for a specific type 
of property in a specific location may not form as reliable a precedent for a property’s current value as under 
normal circumstances. Given the unprecedented nature of this issue, the GLF Group does not consider that it is 
possible to indicate the limits of this uncertainty.

Navigation Buoys were valued internally by NLB staff based on evidence of recent purchases, and taking into 
account the age of the asset.

9.  Investment assets
2019/20 2018/19

£000’s £000’s
Holiday cottages
As at 1 April - 670
Reclassified to PPE Buildings - (670)
As at 31 March - -
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10. Intangible assets
2019/20 2018/19

£000’s £000’s

Cost
At 1 April 472 464
Additions 45 -
Transfers 16 8
At 31 March 533 472

Amortisation
At 1 April 464 431
Charged in year 2 33
At 31 March 466 464
Net book value at 31 March 67 8

11. Non-current trade and other receiveables
2019/20 2018/19

£000’s £000’s
Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Prepayments and accrued Income 67 40
Total 67 40

12. Assets classified as held for sale

There were no assets held for sale as at 31 March 2020 (nil – 2018/19).

13. Inventories
2019/20 2018/19

£000’s £000’s
Mooring Chain 455 427
Base Stores 187 111
Workshop Stores 70 79
Fuel Oil 126 163
Total 838 780
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14. Trade receiveable and other current assets
2019/20 2018/19

£000’s £000’s
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables 193 315
Deposits and advances 14 18
Owed from Trinity House 61 41
Owed from Commissioners of Irish Lights 36 33
Prepayments and accrued Income 136 179
Net VAT Recoverable 441 313
Total 881 899

15. Cash
2019/20 2018/19

£000’s £000’s
Balance at 1 April 802 738
Net change in cash and cash equivalent balances (109) 64
Balance at 31 March 693 802

The following balances at 31 March were held at:
Commercial banks and cash in hand 693 802
Balance at 31 March 693 802

16. Trade payable and other current liabilities
2019/20 2018/19

£000’s £000’s
Amounts falling due within one year
Trade payables 1,769 2,189
Accruals and deferred Income 836 1,499
Accruals for Trinity House  (79)  (59)
Accruals for Commissioners of Irish Lights  (64)  (44)

2,462 3,585
Current part of finance leases 2,665 1,890
Total 5,127 5,475
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17. Provision for liabilities and charges
2019/20 2018/19

£000’s £000’s
Balance at 1 April 140 -
Provided in the year 806 140
Provisions not required written back (18) -
Provisions utilised in the year (122) -
Balance at 31 March 806 140

2019/20 2018/19
£000’s £000’s

Not later than one year 18 140
Later than one year and not later than five years 5 -
Later than five years 783 -
Balance at 31 March 806 140

Merchant Navy Officers' Pension Fund

The GLAs are Participating Employers of the Merchant Navy Officers Pension Fund (MNOPF) which is a defined 
benefit scheme providing benefits based on final pensionable salary which was closed on 31 March 2016.

The MNOPF is a funded multi-employer scheme but the GLA boards are unable to identify their share of the 
underlying assets and liabilities. Formerly officers who started employment with the GLAs and were members 
of the MNOPF were given the option of continuing MNOPF membership or joining the GLA Pension Scheme. 
The assets of the scheme are held separately from the General Lighthouse Fund, being held in separate funds 
managed by trustees of the scheme.

Contributions to the scheme until its closure in March 2016 (20.0% of pensionable salaries) were charged to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure/(Income) when paid.

The Merchant Navy Officers Pension Fund (MNOPF) closed to future defined benefits with effect from 31 
March 2016 and a new defined contribution scheme was launched for existing members of the scheme.

The rules of the MNOPF state that Participating Employers may be called to make lump sum payments to make 
up deficits. The rules state that an employer will not be regarded as ceasing to be a Participating Employer as 
a result of ceasing to employ Active Members or other eligible employees. Historically a provision (£1.353m 
2015/16) was held in relation to the debt which would have arisen under Section 75 of the Pensions Act 1995 
when the last active member of the MNOPF left NLB employment however this event would no longer trigger a 
debt. From 1 April 2016 NLB would only incur a Section 75 debt if we elected to withdraw from the MNOPF or 
the Fund is wound up. The opening provision of £1.353m was released to the SoCNI in 2016/17. The contingent 
liability for a variation in the scheme valuation continues to be reported as a Contingent Liability in note 22.

Merchant Navy Ratings Pension Fund

The Merchant Navy Ratings Pension Fund (MNRPF) Trustees Limited has raised a claim in the High Court in 
England. The claim sought a ruling from the Court that introducing a new deficit contribution regime is a 
proper exercise of the Trustee powers to amend the deed and rules so that Historic Employers, i.e. those 
employers who have not been required to make deficit contributions since 2001, will be required to contribute 
in the future. NLB is a “Historic Employer” in this context.  
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The amendments to the Trust Deed and Rules and the New Regime, including the Implementation 
Methodology, have been approved by the Court. The total fund deficit, of which NLB form part of, was 
£240 million as at 31 March 2017. Contributions are due to be paid to fund the deficit up to 31 March 2024. 
Communication received on 20 August 2018 has reduced the Retained Orphan factor from 146% to 131% 
which in turn decreased the pending NLB liability to £164.  A payment was made in October 2019 to MNRPF 
of £56.34 towards this deficit. The next valuation will be completed by June 2021 with any resulting additional 
contributions due October 2021. Pension fund performance will be impingent on stock market investments, 
due to current climate (Worldwide COVID-19 and Trade/Oil price volatility) the pension fund may not perform 
as described above in order to meet the shortfall.

Health and Safety Provision

Towards the end of 2019/20 it was identified that a requirement existed to carry out works to remove Asbestos 
(£18,000) from Skerryvore AToN.  Due to the urgent health and safety nature of this work a provision for has 
been made in 2019/20 to cover the cost of the associated works to be carried out 2020/21.

Professional Services Provision

A provision has been created for professional fees (£5,000) for expert advice will be incurred in order to 
provide calculation and payment of a pension scheme which is not currently covered by GLA pension scheme 
administration.   

Dilapidations Provision 

Following a review of the continued use of DGPS and subsequent advice for the service to close in 2024/25 a 
provision (£782,899) was created to cover the discounted estimated engineering costs to remove DGPS masts 
and equipment and return sites to their original condition. 

18. Capital commitments

Contracted capital commitments as at 31 March not otherwise included in these financial statements

2019/20 2018/19
£000’s £000’s

Property, plant and equipment 645 511
Intangible assets - 24

645 535
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19. Commitments under leases

19.1 Operating leases
2019/20 2018/19

£000’s £000’s
Obligations under operating leases comprise:
Land
Not later than one year - 10
Later than one year and not later than five years - 22
Later than five years - 5

Buildings
Not later than one year - 37
Later than one year and not later than five years - 146
Later than five years - 69

Other:
Not later than one year - 701
Later than one year and not later than five years - 1,915
Later than five years - -

Total - 2,905

19.1(a)  First time adoption of IFRS16

2019/20
£000’s

 IAS17 to IFRS16 Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 March 2019 2,905
Impact of discounting  (108)
Add: finance lease liabilities recognised  7,534 
(Less): short-term leases not recognised as a liability  (59)
(Less): low-value leases not recognised as a liability  (15)
Add/(less): adjustments as a result of a different treatment of extension and 
termination options

 (62)

Add/(less): adjustments relating to changes in the index or rate affecting variable 
payments
IAS17 to IFRS16 Lease liability recognised as at 1 April 2019 10,195

Of which:
Current 2,574

Non-current 7,621
10,195
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19.2 Lease Liabilities

As at 31/03/2020 As at 01/04/2019
£000's £000's

Obligations under leases comprise:
Land & Buildings
Not later than one year 42 42
Later than one year and not later than five years 123 150
Later than five years 29 44

194 236
Less interest element  (12)  (16)

182 220
Plant & Equipment
Not later than one year 698 691
Later than one year and not later than five years 1,163 1,842
Later than five years - -

1,861 2,533
Less interest element  (50)  (92)

1,811 2,441
Tenders
Not later than one year 2,148 2,148
Later than one year and not later than five years 3,907 5,469
Later than five years - 586

6,055 8,203
Less interest element  (411)  (669)

5,644 7,534

As at 31/03/2020 As at 01/04/2019
£000's £000's

Of which:
Current 2,665 2,574
Non-current 4,972 7,621

7,637 10,195
Movement of capital repayments in year £2,574k, remeasurent of lease liability of P&E as at 31.03.2020 was 
+£16k.
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As at
31/03/2020

£000’s
Amounts recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Expenditure/(Income)
Depreciation expense 1,916
Interest expense 271
Variable lease payments 371
Rental on leases of low-value assets 9
Rental of leases expiring within 12 months 5

As at
31/03/2020

£000’s
Amounts recognised in Statement of Cash Flows
Interest 271
Repayment of lease liability 2,574

Measurement of Lease Income

19.2(a)   Lessor income from finance leases

2019/20
£000’s

Finance income -
-

19.2(b)    Lessor income from leases

2019/20
£000’s

Lease income 183
183
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19.2(c)    Maturity analysis of lease payments receivable

2019/20
£000’s

Amounts due:
Within 1 year 183
Between 1 and 2 years 39
Between 2 and 3 years 17

Between 3 and 4 years 17
Between 4 and 5 years 8
After 5 years 44

308

20. Pensions Commitments

PCSPS

The Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS) is an unfunded multi-employer defined benefit scheme where 
the Department for Transport is unable to identify its share of the underlying liabilities. A full actuarial valuation 
is carried out on a quadrennial basis and details can be found in the resource accounts of the Cabinet Office: Civil 
Superannuation (https://www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk/about-us/resource-accounts/)

For 2019/20, employers’ contributions of £1,859,780 were payable to the PCSPS (2018/19 £1,669,481) at one of 
four rates in the range of 26.6% to 30.3% (2018/19: 20% to 24.5%) of pensionable pay based on salary bands.

The scheme’s Actuary reviews employer contributions every four years following a full scheme valuation. The 
contribution rates are set to meet the cost of the benefits accruing during 2019/20 to be paid when the member 
retires and not the benefits paid during this period to existing pensioners.

Partnership Pension Accounts

Employees can opt to open a partnership pension account, a stakeholder pension with an employer contribution. 
From 1st October 2018 the PCSPS designated Legal & General as the partnership pension provider, removing 
the access to 3 other pension providers for current and new members. Employers’ total contributions of 
£16,376 (2018/19: £13,084) were paid in the year.  Employer contributions are age-related and range from 8% 
to 14.75% of pensionable earnings remaining unchanged from 1 October 2015. Employers also match employee 
contributions up to 3% of pensionable pay.

Contributions due to the partnership pension providers at the reporting period date were £1,150 (2018/19: 
£1,478) Contributions prepaid at that date were nil (2018/19 nil).

In addition, employer contributions of £686, 0.5% (2018/19: £633, 0.5%) of pensionable pay, were payable to the 
PCSPS to cover the cost of the future provision of lump sum benefits on death in service and ill health retirement 
of these employees.

There was 1 reported early retirement as a result of ill-health in 2019/20 (2018/19: 1).

The following has been provided in accordance with the International Accounting Standard IAS 19 (R) - Employee 
Benefits.
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Ensign Retirement Plan (for the MNOPF)

On 1 April 2016 the Ensign Retirement Plan was created to replace the previous defined benefit Merchant 
Navy Officers Pension Fund. From 1 April 2018 the Ensign Retirement Plan (for the MNOPF) became part of the 
Ensign Retirement Plan. During 2019/20 contributions of £12,697 (2018/19: £11,893) were made relating to 1 
member (2018/19: 1 member).

Merchant Navy Ratings Pension Fund

Contributions to the MNRPF in 2019/20 of nil (2018/19: nil).

21. Other financial commitments

There are no other financial commitments.

22. Contingent liabilities 

Employers’ liabilities

Prior to 20 February 1988, NLB was self-insured for Employers’ Liability risks under a Certificate of Exemption 
from the Board of Trade. Marine staff have been covered since 1965 under P&I insurance. Therefore, should a 
claim materialise (and liability/causation be established), there may be a period for which Northern Lighthouse 
Board is responsible in damages and costs as part of any settlement agreed.

Employees who may have reason to claim are ageing which may cause ailments to be identified however a 
number of employees from this period have not presented health issues. Once all the staff employed during 
this self-insurance period have died our risk will end.

Merchant Navy Officers’ Pension Fund

A new actuarial valuation was carried out as at 31 March 2018 which reported a funding shortfall (technical 
provisons minus value of assets) of £73m.   The outstanding funding shortfall as at 31st March 2018 is £9m. 
To eliminate this funding shortfall, the Trustee has agreed that no contributions in addition to those arising 
from the 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2012 valuations will be paid to the Fund by the participating employers. 
Instead, expected investment returns in excess of those underlying the technical provisions will be sufficient 
to meet the outstanding shortfall of £9 million.   The funding shortfall is expected to be eliminated by 30 
September 2023.  NLB does not have reliable estimates of it's share of the liability and therefore have made 
no provision, but continue declare it as a contingent liability until the risk of employer shortfall payments is 
eliminated.
Following a presentation by the trustees of the MNOPF (Ensign Pension Plan) on the 4th June 2020 it has 
been confirmed that the scheme has continued to progress positively.   The scheme has maintained a high 
level of paid up employers and in insuring some of the liabilities to try to ensure the pensions are fully funded 
has resulted in a position as at 30 April 2020 of a funding level of 98.7% (£3,411m).  Ensign have confirmed 
that due to their low level of held equities (c.7%) the scheme has been protected to a large extent from the 
current global pandemic. There are still contributions of £26.9m to be collected (c.1% of fund) which despite 
the impact of COVID-19 on the shipping industry it is anticipated this will still be collected.  Ensign anticipate 
that there should be no requirement for further contributions from employers, however this can not yet be 
guaranteed. Ensign plan to insure the remaining liabilities through 2024/25 and would hope that they would be 
in a position to wind up the scheme shortly thereafter which would allow NLB to dispense with the contingent 
liability.
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Merchant Navy Ratings Pension Fund

An actuarial valuation was carried out as at 31 March 2017 which reported a deficit of £240m. Contributions 
have been agreed recover this deficit but should other employers fail to meet their obligations to pay their 
deficit contributions there may be a call the remaining employers to contribute the defaulting employers 
share.
Coastal Erosion / Environmental Changes

A large proportion of NLB's estate is situated on cliff edges or located on rocks with rising sea levels.  Regular 
surveys are carried out to assess the stability of structures and estimate life span.  Three sites have been 
identified as having a raised degree of risk that may demand a currently unquantified level of investment.  
Probability will vary dependant on site, although a catastrophic event to undermine the structure in the short 
to medium term is low risk, continued monitoring and independent surveys continue to be carried out to 
assess the risk factor.            
                 
23. Related party transactions

The General Lighthouse Fund is administered by the Department for Transport who sponsor the three General 
Lighthouse Authorities. For this purpose each is considered to be a Non Departmental Public Body (NDPB). The 
Authorities and the Department for Transport are regarded to be related parties. During the year there have 
been various material transactions between the Fund and the Authorities.

2019/20 2018/19
£000’s £000’s

Advances from the General Lighthouse Fund 23,930 20,773
Expenditure for all GLAs 4 2

Neither the Secretary of State for Transport, any key officials with responsibilities for the Fund or any of 
the Authorities board members, key managerial staff or other related parties has undertaken any material 
transactions with the Fund during the year.
 
The North Ronaldsay Trust - Charity Number SCO30545

The North Ronaldsay Trust is a company limited by guarantee and registered in Scotland. The Trust has been 
established to promote the island and, in particular, the built and natural heritage. The Trust has six nominated 
members including the Northern Lighthouse Board. NLB’s liability to the Trust is limited to £1. There have been 
no transactions in the financial year between NLB and the Trust and there are no outstanding balances as at 31 
March 2020.

Scotland’s Lighthouse Museum Ltd - Charity Number SCO23118

Scotland’s Lighthouse Museum (SLM) Ltd is a registered charity whose primary purpose is to advance and 
promote the education of the general public, to establish and preserve a Museum of the history and operation 
of lighthouses in Scotland and to aid their physical preservation. The Director of Engineering was as SLM 
Board Member until September 2016 and was succeeded by the Chief Executive. There have been no financial 
transactions in the financial year. There are no outstanding balances as at 31 March 2020.
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James Coats, Junior, “Ferguslie” Paisley Memorial Fund (formerly referred to as the Black Bequest)
- Charity Number SCO09568

The James Coats, Junior, “Ferguslie” Paisley Memorial Fund was a registered charity whose primary purpose 
was to provide support to former lighthouse keepers and their dependants. The Trustees were the Chairman, 
Vice-Chairman and Chief Executive. A decision was made in 2018/19 to close the Trust, the trust closed 
October 2019.  There were no transactions of value between the NLB and the Trust.  The remaining funds of 
£1,719.62 was donated to the Charity for Civil Servants (Civil Service Benevolent Fund) in 2019/20.

The Northern Lighthouse Heritage Trust - Charity Number SCO40872

The Northern Lighthouse Heritage Trust is a registered charity whose primary purpose is to support the 
preservation and conservation of lighthouse heritage. During the year a total of £1,652 worth of sales was 
recorded for books and prints sold by the NLB on behalf of the Heritage Trust. 

24. Third party assets

There are other assets held by NLB on behalf of the Commissioners. These assets are a collection of furniture, 
maps, and paintings and do not form part of the General Lighthouse Fund.

31 March 2020 31 March 2019

£000’s £000’s
Value of the heritage collection 228 228
Cash and investments - 2

25. Financial instruments

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation requires disclosure of the role which financial instruments have had 
during the year in creating or changing the risks NLB faces in undertaking its activities. Because of the largely 
non-trading nature of its activities and the method of funding by the General Lighthouse Fund, NLB is not 
exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by other business entities. NLB has borrowing powers under the 
Merchant Shipping Act 1995 but very limited powers to invest surplus funds.

As permitted by IAS 32, debtors and creditors which mature or become payable within 12 months from the 
Statement of Financial Position date have been omitted from the profile.

Liquidity risk

NLB relies primarily on advances from the General Lighthouse Fund for its cash requirements and is therefore 
not exposed to significant liquidity risks although it is dependent on the liquidity of the General Lighthouse 
Fund.

Interest rate risk

There is an exposure on the leases to a change in the main rate of Corporation Tax. During the setting up of the 
finance lease for NLV POLE STAR, NLB evaluated the option of eliminating this exposure. However, it was found 
that the financial risks were not significant.

NLB holds working funds in a Money Market Account and is therefore exposed to interest rate fluctuations. 
However, the balance is managed to ensure that it is maintained at a minimum to meet forecast short-term 
cash requirements.
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Currency risks

NLB has no significant foreign currency transactions and is not therefore exposed to significant currency risks, 
in our normal operations. However the decision to leave the European Union has created a potential risk which 
NLB continues to monitor.

Fair values

There is no difference between the book values and the fair values of NLB’s financial assets and liabilities as at 
31 March 2020.

26. Inter-GLA ships transactions

NLB provided the services of NLV POLE STAR during the year to the other GLAs under the terms of the inter-
GLA Ship Agreement. While there would be no transfer of funds between the GLAs in respect of this service, 
these transactions would give rise to notional expenditure and income quantified in the table below.

2019/20 2018/19
£000’s £000’s

Notional expenditure - 113
Notional income - 274

27. Prior period adjustments
 
There were no prior period adjustments during 2019/20.

28. Events after reporting period
 
There are no events after the reporting period requiring disclosure.
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31 March 2020 31 March 2019
Lighthouses 206 206
Buoys 174 169
Unlit beacons 25 25
Tenders 2 2

Aids to Navigation for which the Board has responsibility as a General Lighthouse Authority as at 31 March 
2020.

Analysed by Category
No Monitored Cat 1 Cat 2 Cat 3

Lights - over 15 nautical mile range 65 62 63 2 -
Lights - less than 15 nautical miles range 141 139 73 68 -
Total Lights 206 201 136 70 -
Buoys - Lit 174 10 49 96 29
Beacons 25 - - - 25
DGPS stations 4 4 4 - -
RACON on lighthouses 22 24 22 - -
RACON on buoys 7 0 7 - -
AIS Units - Lights 19 25 - - 19
AIS Units - Buoys 26 20 - - 26
Virtual AIS 3 3 - - 3
Total 486 287 218 166 102

Note:  Number of stations with more than one 
RACON

3 Hyskeir, Skerryvore and Sule Skerry

CONTRACT
Lights 2 plus 2 in Norwegian waters
Buoys 117

Fog Signals -
RACON stations 3 plus 2 in Norwegian waters
Total 122
LOCAL AUTHORITY
Light stations 1,119
Buoys stations 770
Total 1,889

Annex A - Further Information
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AIS Automatic Identification System
AtoN Aids to Navigation

CPI Consumer Price Index

DfT Department for Transport (UK)
DGPS Differential Global Positioning System
DTTAS Department of Transport, Tourism and Sport

FTE Full Time Equivalent

GDP Gross Domestic Product
GLA General Lighthouse Authorities
GLF General Lighthouse Fund
GNSS Global Navigation Satellite System
GPS Global Positioning System (USA)
GRAD GLA Research and Development

IALA International Association of Marine Aids to 
Navigation & Lighthouse Authorities 

ICT Information and Communications Technology
IHO International Hydrographic Office
IL Commissioners of Irish Lights IMO 

International Maritime Organization

JSB Joint Strategic Board
JNPR Joint Navigation Policy Requirement

LED Light Emitting Diode
LIDAR Technology that measures distance by laser
LLA Local Lighthouse Authorities

MAIB Marine Accident Investigation Branch
MCA Maritime and Coastguard Agency
MNOPF Merchant Navy Officers' Pension Fund
MTBF Mean Time between Failures
MTTR Mean Time to Repair
MOU Memorandum of Understanding

NDPB Non Departmental Public Body
NLB Northern Lighthouse Board

ONS Operations and Navigation Services

PCSPS Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme

RCM Reliability Centred Maintenance
RLK Retained Lighthouse Keeper
RNLI Royal National Lifeboat Institution
RYA The Royal Yatching Association

SAR Search & Rescue
SEPA Scottish Environment Protection Agency
SNH Scottish Natural Heritage
SOLAS International Convention for Safety of Life at 

Sea (IMO) 
SOSREP Secretary of State's Representative for 

Maritime Salvage & Intervention
SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest
SWAN Scottish Wide Area Network

TH Trinity House
TUDS Tender Utilisation Database System

UKHD United Kingdom Hydrographic Office
 

 

Annex 2 - Interested Parties Acronyms
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MarineServices

"In Salutem Omnium"
For the Safety of All

Over 200 years of service to the mariner
In the Northern Lighthouse Board the provision of reliable, cost effective and 
efficient aids to navigation is our core business.  Our skills in this vital field 
have been built up over 2000 years of service to the mariner in the harshest of 
marine environments.  Our equipment, and the service we provide, has to work - 
navigational safety depends upon it.  Accredited to ISO9001 and ISM certified, we 
are proud to offer this level of service and reassurance to our customers.

Vessel Services
Equipped to levels normally only found in much larger vessels, NLV PHAROS and 
NLV POLE STAR provide versatile platforms for research, sea trials, hydrographic 
surveying and other marine support services.

Aids to Navigation provision, maintenance and servicing
Our commerical AtoN services include provision of temporary or permanent 
AtoNs, deployment or removal, solarisation, maintenance servicing and 
refurbishment.  Whether marking a port approach, marine renewable energy sites 
or a decommissioned oil rig, we can design a solution to suit.

Professional Advisory Services
The Northern Lighthouse Board provides innovative solutions in the areas of 
marking of decommissioned oil & Gas installations, solarisation in extreme  
climates and littoral engineering solutions.

Marine Base Support
NLB Oban offers full marine base support facilities including berthing services, 
ultra high pressure washing, paint spray booth, electrical & electronic testing and 
engineering support.

Whatever your aids to navigation needs, we can help - we know the environment, 
understand your requirements and will work with you to provide the best possible 
solution.

It's our core business - let our innovative and dependable solutions help 
you to concentrate on yours.

Northern Lighthouse Board, 84 George Street, Edinburgh EH2 3DA
Telephone: +44(0) 131 473 3100 Fax: +44 (0) 131 220 2093

E-mail:  enquiries@nlb.org.uk    www.nlb.org.uk

More than Lighthouses
www.nlb.org.uk


